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PART I
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Any statements contained
herein regarding our future financial performance, operations, or other matters (including, without limitation, statements to the
effect that we “believe,” “expect,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “intend to,” “project,” “anticipate,” “continue,” "strive to," "seek to,"
"are encouraged by," "remain cautious," "remain optimistic," or “estimate”; statements of "goals" or "visions"; orother variations
thereof or comparable terminology or the negative thereof) should be considered forward-looking statements. Actual results could
differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of important factors including those
set forth under Item 1 under the heading “Risk Factors” beginning on page 10, and elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Although w e
believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee futureresults, levelsof
activity, performance or achievements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We disclaim any
obligation to update information contained in any forward-looking statement.
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Overview
National Instruments Corporation (the "Company," "NI," "we," "us" or "our") started over 40 years ago on an id ea o f
connecting engineers through software. Our founders created technology to connect instruments to computers in order to accelerate
the testing and measurement of innovative technology, and this was the seed of a philosophy of accelerating in n ovatio n t h at
continues to be a driving force of our culture, our business, and our operations today. We strive to enable customers around t h e
world to do their most ambitious work while meeting fast-moving market demands. We provide the integration of modular hardware
and open, flexible software systems, to consistently support organizations’ evolving test and measurement needs. Our hope is that in
100 years’ time, future generations will continue to benefit from the results of the innovation we make possible today.
Our overarching goal, which we call our core strategic vision is to be the leader in software-defined automated test and
automated measurement systems. This vision provides a framework to help us achieve our financial goals of profitab ilit y an d
revenue growth by:
• Delivering value that gives our customers a competitive advantage
• Providing a differentiated software-defined platform for automated test and automated measurement systems
• Focusing on industry-specific applications that benefit from our platform's disruptive capabilities
• Enhancing our system-level offerings to more fully meet customers' enterprise wide challenges
In pursuing our vision, we have empowered our team to be deliberate about the market opport unities we pursue to fuel growth by
targeting the applications where we believe our systems can provide significant value to our customers. We believe our long-term
track record for innovation and our differentiation in the market helps support the success of our customers, employees, community,
and stockholders.
People first approach to engineering
Our philosophy of putting the needs of our customers first and elevating the impact of their creativity and innovation is at
the heart of how we do business. We utilize our expertise to partner with talented engineers and enterprises around theworld to push
the limits of innovation. We believe it is a combination of our people, technology and data that make a difference in helping our
customers reach speed, scale and efficiency across all phases of the product development cycle.
NI is headquartered in Austin, Texas. We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas in May 1976 and were
reincorporated in Delaware in June 1994. In March 1995, we completed an initial public offering of our co mmo n s t ock. Ou r
common stock, $0.01 par value, is quoted on the NASDAQ Stock Market under the trading symbol NATI.
Products, Technology, and Services
Our commitment to innovation and continuous improvement has been a core value for us for over 40 years. Below is an
overview of our products, technology and services.
Software
NI software is the key differentiator of our platform. We have empowered hundreds of thousan ds o f lo y al u s ers o f
LabVIEW, a unique graphical software platform optimized for engineers, and numerous other application software tools. We have
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consistently invested to maintain and strengthen our software platform to provide a simplified user interface, faster time -to-test,
modern web- and cloud-enabled capabilities, and the ability to quickly create application-specific software tools.
The NI software platform spans the full range of customer needs, from high-performance driver software for NI hardware
to general-purpose development tools that allow customers to create their own IP to higher-level software products that directly meet
targeted customer applications. A hallmark of the NI software platform is the integration of NI and third -p art y s o ftware and
hardware. We recently demonstrated our commitment and discipline to software excellence by a major investment to modernize our
software platform, which resulted in a refresh of our flagship software, LabVIEW, as well as a series of new software products that
address higher-level customer needs.
The power of our open platform
Across the world, software connections are driving our innovation. We have made significant investments in software
interfaces so customers can use development tools such as Python, Linux, C++, Mathworks, MATLAB & Simulink, Micros oft
Visual Studio, .NET and more to develop test and measurement applications with our platform.
NI provides a wide variety of software tools for programming automated test and automated measurement applications.
This software offering includes:
Programming Environments
• NI LabVIEW - a graphical programming approach that helps visualize every aspect of the application, including hardware
configuration, measurement data, and debugging. This visualization makes it simple to integrate measurement hardware from
various vendors, represent complex logic on the diagram, develop data analysis algorithms, and design custom engineering user
interfaces.
• NI LabWindows/CVI - an ANSI C integrated development environment and engineering toolbox with built -in libraries fo r
measurement, analysis, and engineering UI design.
• NI Measurement Studio - a suite of .NET tools designed for building engineering applications in Microsoft Visual Studio to
acquire, analyze, and display measurement data.
Application Software
• NI TestStand - application software targeted for automated test and automated measurement applications in a manufacturing
environment.
• NI VeriStand - a ready-to-use software environment for configuring real-time testing applications, including hardware-in-theloop test systems.
• Flexlogger - application software optimized for quick sensor configuration and data logging of mixed s ig n als t o v erify
electromechanical systems.
• NI InsightCM Enterprise - a software solution with tightly integrated hardware options for monitoring ancillary ro t at ing
equipment.
Systems and Data Management
• NI DIAdem - configuration-based technical data management, analysis, and report generation tools to interactively mine and
analyze engineering and measurement data.
• NI SystemLink - systems management software that enables the mass coordination of connected devices, softwaredeployments,
and data communications throughout a distributed system.
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Modular Hardware
We provide modular instrumentation that offers our customers the ability to create their own unique programmable, flexible
and low-cost solutions. We believe our modular instrument approach enables us to grow our sales in the automated validation and
automated production test market by delivering more test coverage and a lower-cost alternative for our customers. We offer two
primary hardware form factors, PXI and NI C-series, both with a modular input/output ("I/O") approach in addition to indust ry
standard PCI form factors. The NI PXI modular instrument platform, introduced in 1997, is a standard PC architecture in a rugged
form factor with expansion slots and instrumentation extensions for timing, triggering and signal sharing. PXI combines mainstream
PC software and PCI hardware with advanced instrumentation capabilities. The NI C-series platform, used in our CompactRIO and
CompactDAQ products, is a rugged, high-performance I/O and processing platform used in a wide variety of data acq uisit io n
applications. We believe our C-series data acquisition and control products provide unique value where diverse I/O is needed, and
we believe that we can expand our user base through new distributed and rugged products. The NI PXI and C-series platforms
include field programmable gate array ("FPGA") technology, giving customers programmable hardware capability that provides
high performance and is user-customizable with NI LabVIEW software.
Increasingly, our customers’ applications demand more system capabilities that more closely match their application needs.
We have continually evolved our offering to include highly innovative products and application-specific systems. One example in
the semiconductor industry is our NI Semiconductor Test System ("STS") which combines NI modular instrumentation with NI
software for RF and mixed-signal production testing. The STS features fully production-ready test systems that useNI technology in
a form factor suitable for a semiconductor production test environment. The STS combines the NI PXI hardware, TestStand test
management software, and LabVIEW graphical programming software inside a fully enclosed test head. The compact STS design
houses all the key components of a production tester while using a fraction of the floor space, power, and maintenance typica lly
required by traditional automated test equipment. With the open, modular design, engineers can take advantage o f t h e lat est
industry-standard PXI modules for more instrumentation and computing power.
Services and Support
We provide global services and support as part of our commitment to our customers’ success. Our services and support
have always played a key role in helping our customers to design, deploy and create. Our services and support team is made up of
highly qualified engineers and experts who help our customers to meet their application needs. With direct operations in
approximately 45 countries, NI has local market expertise, on-site services, and technical support to enable customer success.
Through our ecosystem with an active community of software developers and over 1,000 National Instruments Alliance
Partners around the world we are able to deliver solutions tailored to customer needs. Our Alliance Partners have deep knowledgeof
NI systems and the rich domain expertise to connect the right technologies, strategies, and support based on customers’ business
needs.
We also offer software maintenance services, hardware services and maintenance and training certification.
Software Maintenance Services
Software Services for End Users: Our Standard Service Program provides our end users with support services through a
software maintenance contract. The Standard Service Program is designed to help ensure that our end users are successful with our
products by providing the end user with regular product upgrades and service packs, professional technical support fro m lo cal
engineers, 24-hour-a-day access to self-paced online product training, and access to older versions of their licensed NI software.
Volume Licensing for Account-Level Services: Our NI Volume License Program (“VLP”) and Enterprise Agreement s
(“EAs”) are designed to meet the needs of the business in addition to the needs of each end user. In additio n t o access t o t h e
Standard Service Program for each end user, businesses that take advantage of the VLP and EAs receive account-level benefit s
designed to help effectively manage their software assets and lower their total cost of ownership.
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Hardware Services and Maintenance
Warranty and Repair. We offer standard and extended warranties to help meet project life-cycle requirements and provide
repair services for our products, express repair, and advance replacement services.
Calibration. To help our customers’ calibration needs, NI provides calibration solutions, including recalibration services,
manual calibration procedures, and automated calibration software. In 2011, theAmerican Association for Laboratory Accreditation
accredited NI Calibration Services Austin to one of the highest international calibration standard s in t h e in d ust ry, ISO/ IEC
17025:2005 (“17025”). We now offer 17025 calibration services for original equipment manufacturers ("OEMs") and other
organizations seeking to maintain their compliance with governmental, medical, transportation and electronics regulations. The
17025-calibration service offering is designed for companies standardizing their automated test and measurement systems on PXI
modular instrumentation, which provides some of the most advanced technology for add ressing the latest engineering challenges.
System Configuration and Deployment: Our NI SystemAssurance Program provides a fast, easy way to get our customers'
new NI systems up and running. Our trained technicians install software and hardware and configure our customers’ PXI, and NI
CompactRIO system to their specifications.
Training and Certification
NI Training Program. NI training helps the customer build the skills to more efficiently develop robust, maintain able
applications. We offer fee-based training classes and self-paced online training for many of our software and hardwareproducts. Onsite courses are quoted per customer requests and we include on-line course offerings with live teachers.
NI Certification Program. We offer programs to certify programmers and instructors for our products. Our certification
program demonstrates our customers have the skills needed to create high-quality applications with NI software.
Markets and Applications
NI invests to enhance our offerings in software connected systems in the semiconductor, transportation and aerospace, defense, and
government ADG industries. We are able to leverage the investments in these areas to serve a broad base of diverse customers in the
other industries we serve.
•

Semiconductor
Within the semiconductor industry, customers are facing a rapid increase in complexity and in t ense t ime t o market
pressures. We are investing to increase our ability to deliver flexible, automated test, and measurement solutions that scale
from chip verification to characterization, validation and into the production floor. This will help to meet the busin ess
needs of integrated circuit ("IC") manufacturers. IC makers are pressured to deliver more integrated solutions, ensurehigh
levels of quality and reliability, remain cost competitive, and to shorten time to market to meet tight market windows. We
continue to innovate with solutions that span our customers' product development lifecycle, fo cused o n h elp in g IC
manufacturers address the cost, scalability, design, and device challenges they face in targeting the development of the next
generation of smart devices.

•

Transportation
The automotive industry is evolving to include electrification and advanced driver-assistance systems (ADAS). New test
challenges and requirements are coming faster than ever before and we believe customers see benefits in NI’s adaptable
technologies. Our open and easily upgradable automated test and measurement systems give customers the flexibility to
meet their needs when faced with rapidly changing requirements and tight budgets.

•

Aerospace, Defense and Government
Over the years we have built a deep understanding of how to help our ADG customers optimize test strategies to meet
increasingly demanding technical and business requirements. We help our customers control their proprietary IP through
our software offering while meeting their demands for highly customized and long life-cycle systems. Our adaptive, open
technologies are designed to reduce the cost of maintenance and support by proactively managing technology insertion and
life-cycle management strategies. Our combination of flexible hardware and open software also allows for rapid
prototyping and validation of new technologies, helping reduce the time to innovate.
6
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•

Portfolio
For over 40 years, we have enabled engineers to develop and deliver increasingly complex products in every industry we
serve. With our adaptive automated measurement technology, we help our customers perform research, validate design
quality and thoroughly test them in production. Our platform’s modular characteristics allow our customers to quickly
integrate solutions and also allows us to efficiently define and deliver ready-to-run offerings that meet their application
needs even faster. The main industries of focus within the portfolio grouping, include Electrical Equipment, Electronics,
Energy, Life Sciences and Academic.

Our Customers
We continue to have a broad, diverse sets of customers with over 35,000 customer accounts worldwide, with no customer
representing more than 3% of our revenues in each of the past three years.
Culture and Employees
We consider our employees to be one of our greatest assets and central to our continued success. As of December 31, 2019,
we had more than 7,300 employees worldwide. We consider our employee relations to be good.
Sales and Distribution
We distribute and sell our products primarily through a direct sales organization. We also use independent distributors,
OEMs, value-added resellers ("VARs"), system integrators and consultants, each of whom we refer to as partners, to market and sell
our products.
We have sales and support offices in approximately 45 countries. Sales outside of the U.S. accounted for approximately
63% of our revenues in each of the last three years. We believe the ability to provide comprehensive service and support to o ur
customers is an important factor in our business. We generally permit customers to return products within 30 days from receipt for a
refund of the purchase price less a restocking charge. Our hardware products are generally warranted against defects in materials and
workmanship for one year from the date we ship the products to our customers. Historically, warranty costs and returns have not
been material.
Our foreign operations are subject to certain risks set forth under Item 1A, Risk Factors, We are Subject to Various Risks
Associated with International Operations and Foreign Economies. See also discussion regarding fluctuations in our quarterly results
and seasonality in Item 1A, Risk Factors, Our Revenues are Subject to Seasonal Variations.
We have one operating segment and one reporting unit. Our chief operating decision maker evalu at es o u r fin an cial
information and resources and assesses the performance of these resources on a consolidated basis. For information reg ard ing
revenue, results of operations, and total assets for each of our last three fiscal years, please refer to our financial statements included
in this Form 10-K and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in Item 7
of this Form 10-K.
Marketing
We bring our inside knowledge of leading-edge technology trends to the professional engineering community throughout
the year, achieving significant customer reach at our premier global events, NIWeek, NIDays Europe and NIDays Asia. Weengage a
broad audience and partner with our direct sales force to help strengthen customer relationships at all levels of the account. We
expand our reach through thought leadership and content on our website at ni.com, gaining exposure through online webcasts, blogs
and social media. We also participate actively in conversations in the technology community through industry tradeshows, technical
conferences, trainings and user seminars.
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Competition
We operate in a highly competitive market, with competition offering products and solutions specific to industries and
applications. Different competitors offer hardware, software or solutions that directly compete with different aspects of our business.
Key competitors include Advantest, Anritsu, Fortive, Keysight, Rohde & Schwarz, and Teradyne.
See further discussion regarding risks associated with our competitive environment in Item 1A, Risk Facto rs, We Operate
in Intensely Competitive Markets.
Research and Development
Our business and our customers’ businesses are rapidly evolving. We invest significant res ources in res earch an d
development because we believe our long-term growth and success depends on helping our customers stay ahead of the curve in the
fast-moving world of technology. We listen to our customers’ needs as a guide to our research and development efforts. Wefocus on
enhancing existing products and developing new products that have features and functionality intended t o ad dress exp ect ed
technology advances and we seek to offer competitive capabilities and performance at excellent value. Our research and
development team strives to build quality into our products from the start, in the design phase. We believe this “q ualit y firs t ”
mindset helps to reduce overall development and manufacturing costs and provide reliability in our end products.
Our research and development expenses were $272 million, $261 million and $232 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively.
Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark law, contracts and technical measures to establish
and protect our proprietary rights in our products. As of December 31, 2019, we held 870 U.S. patents (868 utility patents and 2
design patents) and 91 patents in foreign countries (78 patents registered in Europe, 7 patents in China, 5 patents in Japan, and 1
patent in Mexico), and had 62 patent applications pending in the U.S. and foreign countries. 258 of our issued U.S. patents are
software patents related to LabVIEW and cover fundamental aspects of the graphical programming approach used in LabVIEW. Our
patents expire from 2020 to 2038. The expiration of any particular patent in the short term is not expected to have any significant
negative impact on our business. No assurance can be given that our pending patent applications will result in the is s uance o f
patents. We also own certain registered trademarks in the United States and abroad. See further discussion regarding risks associated
with our patents in Item 1A, Risk Factors, Our Business Depends on Our Proprietary Rights and We Hav e Been Su b ject t o
Intellectual Property Litigation.
Manufacturing and Suppliers
We manufacture substantially all of our product volume at our facilities in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. Our
product manufacturing operations can be divided into four areas: electronic circuit card and module assembly; chassis and cable
assembly; technical manuals and product support documentation; and software duplication. Most of our electronic circuit card
assemblies, modules and chassis are manufactured in house, although contractors are used from time to time. The majority of our
electronic cable assemblies are produced by contractors; however, we do manufacture some on an exception basis. Our software
duplication, technical manuals and product support documentation are primarily produced by contractors.
Our manufacturing processes use large volumes of high-quality components and subassemblies supplied b y o ut sid e
sources. Several of these components are only available through limited sources. Limited source items purchased include custom
application specific integrated circuits, chassis and other items. We have in the past experienced delays and quality problems in
connection with limited source items, and there can be no assurance that these problems will not recur in the future. Accordingly, our
failure to receive items from limited source item suppliers could result in a material adverse effect on our net sales and operating
results. See Our Business is Dependent on Key Suppliers for additional discussion of the risks associated with limit ed s o u rce
suppliers. We must comply with many different governmental regulations related to the use, storage, discharge, and disposal o f
toxic, volatile or otherwise hazardous chemicals used in our operations in the U.S., Hungary, and Malaysia. See Item 1A , Ris k
Factors, Our Operations are Subject to a Variety of Environmental Regulations and Costs for further discussion of environmental
matters as they may affect our business.
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Backlog
Backlog is a measure of orders that are received but that are not shipped to customers at the end of a quarter. We typically
ship products shortly following the receipt of an order. Accordingly, our backlog typically represents less than 5 days sales. Backlog
should not be viewed as an indicator of our future sales.
Corporate Responsibility
At NI, we want to help engineers, enterprises, and innovators thrive today, tomorrow, and for the next hundred years. From
inspiring future science, technology, engineering, and math ("STEM") leaders to protecting our planet, our goal of making a positive
impact on the world is ingrained in our culture, and business practices. As a company, we are fostering a pipeline of diverse STEM
talent through academic partnerships, our employee mentor program, and investment in STEM education. We also are exploring
ways that we can better conserve natural resources, reduce our environmental footprint, and put our technology to use in helping
solve our planet's most pressing environmental problems.
At NI, we proudly support our employees and our communities as we collectively take on the most significant challenges
of our time.
Available Information
Our website is www.ni.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T are available through our Internet website as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with, or furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC"), or upon written request without charge. Our website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not
intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The SEC maintains a website, www.sec.gov, which contains
these reports and other information regarding issuers that file electronically
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this Form 10-K, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed
below. The risks described below are not the only risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or
that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results.
Uncertain Global Economic Conditions Could Materially Adversely Affect Our Business and Results of Operations. Our
operations and performance are sensitive to fluctuations in general economic conditions, both in the U.S. and globally. Uncertainty
about global and regional economic conditions poses a risk to us as businesses may decrease or postpone spending in response to
events such as continued trade tensions between the U.S. and China or other countries, geopolitical instability, pandemics and other
major public health issues including the coronavirus, financial market volatility, tariffs or other trade restrictions, g o ver nmen t
regulatory actions, negative financial news or other factors. Negative trends or sentiments in worldwide and regional economic
conditions have in the past and could again have a material adverse effect on demand for our products an d s erv ices. Ev en if
resolved, these trends could have a broad negative impact on the global industrial economy, which could have a material adverse
impact on our business and our results of operations. These factors as well as others we may not contemplate could have a mat erial
adverse effect on the spending patterns of businesses including our current and potential customers which could have a material
adverse effect on our net sales and our results of operations. See “Current business outlook” in this Form 10-K for informat io n
regarding recent business conditions.
We are Subject to Various Risks Associated with International Operations and Foreign Economies. Our international sales and
operations are subject to inherent risks, including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

fluctuations in foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar;
unexpected changes to currency policy or currency restrictions in foreign jurisdictions;
delays in collecting trade receivable balances from customers in developing economies;
tariffs and other trade barriers;
unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
fluctuations in local economies;
disparate and changing employment laws in foreign jurisdictions;
difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;
costs and risks of localizing products for foreign countries;
major public health concerns, including the coronavirus:
enhanced exposure to potential unauthorized use, duplication, misappropriation, theft or other infringement or
violation of our intellectual property rights;
government actions throughout the world; and
the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws.

Moreover, there can be no assurance that our international sales will continue at existing levels or grow in accordance with our
efforts to increase foreign market penetration.
In many foreign countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it is common to engage in business practices that are
prohibited by U.S. regulations applicable to us such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Although we have policies and procedures
designed to ensure compliance with these laws, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, con tract ors an d ag ents,
including those based in or from countries where practices which violate such U.S. laws may be customary, will not take actions in
violation of our policies. Any violation of foreign or U.S. laws by our employees, contractors or agents, even if such violation is
prohibited by our policies, could have a material adverse effect on our business. We must also comply with various import an d
export regulations. The application of these various regulations depends on the classification of our products which can change over
time as such regulations are modified or interpreted. As a result, even if we are currently in compliance with applicable regulations,
there can be no assurance that we will not have to incur additional costs or take additional compliance actions in the future . Failure
to comply with these regulations could result in fines or termination of import and export privileges, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results. Additionally, the regulatory environment in some countries is very restrictiv e as t h eir
governments try to protect their local economy and value of their local currency against the U.S. dollar.
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We Make Significant Investments in New Products that May Not Be Successful or Achieve Expected Returns. We plan to
continue to make significant investments in research, development, and marketing for new and existing products and technologies.
We have made and expect to make significant investments in software and other technology development related to the new and
enhanced features of our products. These investments involve a number of risks as the commercial success of such efforts depend on
many factors, including our ability to anticipate and respond to innovation, achieve the desired technological fit, and be effective
with our marketing and distribution efforts. If our existing or potential customers do not perceive our latest product offerings as
providing significant new functionality or value, or if we are late to market with a new product or technology, we may not achieve
our expected return on our investments or be able recover the costs expended to develop new product offerings, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results. Even if our new products are profitable, our operating margins for new products
may not be as high as the margins we have experienced historically.
Our Product Revenues are Dependent on Certain Industries and Contractions in these Industries Could Have a Material
Adverse Effect on Our Results of Operations. Sales of our products are dependent on customers in certain industries, particularly
telecommunications, semiconductor, consumer electronics, automotive, energy, automated test equipment, and aerospace, defense
and government. As we have experienced in the past, and as we may continue to experience in the future, downturns characterized
by diminished product demand in any one or more of these industries may result in decreased sales and a material adverse effect on
our operating results. We cannot predict when and to what degree contractions in these industries may occur; however, any sharp or
prolonged contraction in one or more of these industries could have a material adverse effect on our b usin ess and resu lts o f
operations.
Our Success Depends on New Product Introductions and Market Acceptance of Our Products. The market for our products is
characterized by rapid technological change, evolving industry standards, changes in customer needs and frequent new product
introductions, and is therefore highly dependent upon timely product innovation. Our success is dependent o n o ur ab ilit y t o
successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products on a timely basis to replace declining revenues from older products,
and on increasing penetration in domestic and international markets. As has occurred in the past and as may be expected to occur in
the future, we have experienced significant delays between the announcement and the commercial availability of new products. Any
significant delay in releasing new products could have a material adverse effect on the ultimate success of a product and o th er
related products and could impede continued sales of predecessor products, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results. There can be no assurance that we will be able to introduce new products in accordance with announced release
dates, that our new products will achieve market acceptance or that any such acceptance will be sustained for any significant period.
Failure of our new products to achieve or sustain market acceptance could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
Our Reported Financial Results May be Adversely Affected by Changes in Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the
U.S. We prepare our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. These accounting
principles are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Generally accepted accounting principles and accompanying accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines
and interpretations for many aspects of our business, such as revenue recognition, software capit alizat io n, an d in come t ax
uncertainties, are complex and involve subjective judgments by management. A change in these policies or interpretations could
have a significant effect on our reported financial results and our internal controls over financial reporting, may retroactively affect
previously reported results, could cause unexpected financial reporting fluctuations, and may require us to make costly changes to
our operational processes and accounting systems. For example, in February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which,
as amended, supersedes nearly all existing U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") lease guidance and wh ich
became effective for us for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2019. (See Note 1 - Operations and su mmary o f s ig n ificant
accounting policies and Note 9 - Leases of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of the accounting
changes).
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Our Manufacturing Capacity, and a Substantial Majority of our Warehousing and Distribution Capacity is Located Outside
of the U.S. We manufacture substantially all of our product volume at our facilities in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. In
order to enable timely shipment of products to our customers we maintain the substantial majo rit y o f o u r in v en t ory at o ur
international locations. In addition to being subject to the risks of maintaining such a concentration of manufacturing capacity and
global inventory, these facilities and their operations are also subject to risks associated with doing business in t ernat io nally,
including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the volatility of the Hungarian forint and the Malaysian ringgit relative to the U.S. dollar;
changing and potentially unstable political environments;
significant and frequent changes in corporate tax laws;
difficulty in managing manufacturing operations in foreign countries;
challenges in expanding capacity to meet increased demand;
difficulty in achieving or maintaining product quality;
interruption to transportation flows for delivery of components to us and finished goods to our customers;
major public health concerns, including the coronavirus;
restrictive labor codes; and
increasing labor costs.

No assurance can be given that our efforts to mitigate these risks will be successful. Any failure to effectively deal with the risks
above could result in an interruption in the operations of our facilities in Hungary or Malaysia which could have a material adverse
effect on our operating results.
Our centralization of inventory and distribution from a limited number of shipping points is subject to inherent risks, including:
•
•

burdens of complying with additional or more complex VAT and customs regulations; and
concentration of inventory increasing the risks associated with fire, natural disasters and log ist ics d isru ptio ns t o
customer order fulfillment.

Any failure or delay in distribution from our facilities in Hungary and Malaysia could have a material adverse effect on o ur
operating results.
Our Financial Performance is Subject to Risks Associated with Changes in the Value of the U.S. Do l l a r versus Lo cal
Currencies. The vast majority of our sales outside of the U.S. are denominated in local currencies, and accordingly, the U.S. dollar
equivalent of these sales is affected by changes in the foreign currency exchange rates. If the local currencies in which we sell our
products strengthen against the U.S. dollar, we have in the past, and in the future may need to, lower our prices in the loca l currency
to remain competitive in our international markets. This could have a material adverse effect on our gross and net profit margins. If
the local currencies in which we sell our products weaken against the U.S. dollar and if the local sales prices cannot be raised dueto
competitive pressures, we will experience a deterioration of our gross and net profit margins. In the past, we h av e n o ted t h a t
significant volatility in foreign currency exchange rates in the markets in which we do business has had a significant impact on the
revaluation of our foreign currency denominated firm commitments, on our ability to forecast our U.S. dollar equivalent net sales
and expenses and on the effectiveness of our hedging programs. In the past, these dynamics have also adversely affected our net
sales growth in international markets and may pose similar challenges in the future. See “Results of Operations” in this Form 10-K
for further discussion on the effect that changes in the foreign currency exchange rates have had o n our operating result s. See
“Current business outlook” in this Form 10-K for information regarding recent business conditions.
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Orders with a Value of Greater than One Million Dollars Expose Us to Significant Additional Business and Legal Risks that
Could Have a Material Adverse Impact on our Business, Results of Operations and Financial Condition. We continue to make a
concentrated effort to increase our net sales through the pursuit of orders with a value greater than $1.0 million. These types o f
orders expose us to significant additional business and legal risks compared to smaller orders. Our very large customers frequently
require contract terms that vary substantially from our standard terms of sale. At times these orders include terms that impose critical
delivery commitments and severe contractual liabilities if we fail to provide the required quantity of products at t h e req uir ed
delivery times, impose product acceptance requirements and product performance evaluation requirements which create uncertainty
with respect to the timing of our ability to recognize revenue from such orders, allow the customers to cancel or delay orders without
liability, require us to develop specific product mitigation plans for product delivery co nstrain ts cau sed b y u n exp ected o r
catastrophic situations to help assure quick production recovery, and that require most favored customer p ricin g , s ig nifican t
discounts, extended payment terms and volume rebates. At times these customers require broad indemnity obligations and la rge
direct and consequential damage provisions in the event we breach our contracts with them. At times these contracts have supply
constraint requirements which mandate that we allocate large product inventories for a specific co n tract . Th ese in v en tory
requirements expose us to higher risks of inventory obsolescence and can adversely impact our ability to provide adequate product
supply to other customers.
While we attempt to limit the number of contracts that contain the non-standard terms of sale described above and attempt to
contractually limit our potential liability under such contracts, we have been, and expect to be, required to agree to some o r all of
such provisions to secure orders from very large customers and to continue to grow our business. These arrangements exposeus to
significant additional legal and operational risks which could result in a material adverse impact on o ur b u sin ess, res ult s o f
operations and financial condition. In addition, these larger orders are more volatile, are subject to greater discount variability and
may contract at a faster pace during an economic downturn. We attempt to manage these risks but there can be no assurance that we
will be successful in our efforts.
Revenue Derived from Systems Orders Could Adversely Affect our Gross Margin and Could Lead to Greater Variability in
our Quarterly Results. We consider orders with a value greater than $20,000 as being indicative of our systems business. These
orders have been and may continue to be more sensitive to changes in the global industrial economy, subject to greater discount
variability and such orders may be pushed-out or reduced at a faster pace during an economic downturn compared to orders valued
at less than $20,000. To the extent that the amount of our net sales derived from systems orders increases in future periods, either in
absolute dollars or as a percentage of our overall business, our gross margins could decline, and we could experien ce g reater
volatility in our financial results and business, and s ee a greater negative financial impact from future downturns in th e g lo bal
industrial economy. System orders may also have an impact on the historical seasonal pattern of our net sales and our results o f
operations. System orders make managing inventory levels more difficult as we have in the past and may have to in the future build
large quantities of inventory in anticipation of future demand that may not materialize.
Our Realignment Activities May be Disruptive to Our Operations and Negatively Impact Our Results of Operations.
Over the past three years, we have been implementing changes within our organization designed to enhance our ability to pursue
market opportunities, accelerate our technology development initiatives, and improve operational efficiencies. Specifically, we have
aligned certain aspects of our operations with our strategic focus on industry-specific applications where we believe our product
platform can add the most value to our customers. In the short-term, these actions may lead to business disruptions, decreased
productivity and unanticipated employee turnover which may have an adverse impact on our business and results of operations.
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Uncertain Conditions in the Global Financial Markets May Adversely Affect Our Business
and Results of Operations. By virtue of our holdings of cash, investment securities and foreign currency derivatives, we h av e
exposure to many different counterparties, and routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the fin ancial services industry,
including commercial banks and investment banks. Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of a default of
our counterparties. We continue to monitor the stability of the financial markets, particularly those in the emerging markets. We can
give no assurance that we will not be negatively impacted by any adverse outcomes in those markets. Therecan be no assurance that
any losses or impairments to the carrying value of our financial assets as a result of defaults by our counterpart ies wo uld n o t
materially and adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.
We Have Established a Budget and Variations from Our Budget Will Affect Our Financial Results. We have established an
operating budget for fiscal 2020. Our budget was established based on the estimated revenue from sales of our products which are
based on anticipated economic conditions in the markets in which we do business as well as the timing and volume of our n ew
products and the expected penetration of both new and existing products in the marketplace. If demand for our products during the
remainder of 2020 is less than the demand we anticipated in setting our fiscal year budget, our operating results could be negatively
impacted.
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If we exceed our budgeted level of expenses or if we cannot reduce expenditures in response to a decrease in net sales, o ur
operating results could be adversely affected. Our spending could exceed our budget due to a number of factors, including, but not
limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

continued foreign currency fluctuations;
increased manufacturing costs resulting from component supply shortages or component price fluctuations;
additional marketing costs for new product introductions or for conferences and tradeshows;
the timing, cost or outcome of any future intellectual property litigation or commercial disputes;
unanticipated costs related to acquisitions we may make; or
increased component costs resulting from vendors increasing their sales prices.

We Operate in Intensely Competitive Markets. The markets in which we operate are characterized by intense competition from
numerous competitors, some of which have larger market capitalization and resources than we do, an d we may face fu rt h er
competition from new market entrants in the future. Key competitors are Advantest, Anritsu, Fortive, Keysight, Rohde & Schwarz,
Teradyne, and others. These competitors offer hardware and software products that provide solutions that directly compete with our
software defined automated test and automated measurement systems. Because these companies have strong posit io ns in t h e
instrumentation business, new product introductions by them, changes in their marketing strategy or product offerings or aggressive
pricing strategies by them to gain market share could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
We believe our ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors both within and outside our control, including, but
not limited to:
• general market and economic conditions;
• our ability to maintain and grow our business with our very large customers;
• our ability to meet the volume and service requirements of our large customers;
• success in developing and selling new products;
• product pricing, including the impact of currency exchange rates;
• industry consolidation, including acquisitions by us or our competitors;
• capacity utilization and the efficiency of manufacturing operations;
• timing of our new product introductions;
• new product introductions by competitors;
• the ability of competitors to more fully leverage low cost geographies for manufacturing or distribution;
• effectiveness of sales and marketing resources and strategies;
• adequate manufacturing capacity and supply of components and materials;
• strategic relationships with our suppliers and other third parties;
• product quality and performance;
• protection of our products by effective use of intellectual property laws;
• the financial strength of our competitors;
• the outcome of any future litigation or commercial dispute;
• barriers to entry imposed by competitors with significant market power in new markets; and
• government actions throughout the world.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the future.
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Our Quarterly Results are Subject to Fluctuations Due to Various Factors that May Adversely Affect Our Busi ness a nd
Results of Operations. Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the futuredue
to a number of factors, including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

changes in the amount of revenue derived from very large orders (including orders from our very large customers)
and the pricing, margins, and other terms of such orders;
tariffs and trade restrictions imposed by the U.S. or other countries;
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
changes in global economic conditions;
changes in the capacity utilization including at our facility in Malaysia;
changes in the mix of products sold;
the availability and pricing of components from third parties (especially limited sources);
the difficulty in maintaining margins, including the higher margins traditionally achieved in international sales;
changes in pricing policies by us, our competitors or suppliers;
the timing, cost or outcome of any future intellectual property litigation or commercial disputes;
delays in product shipments caused by human error or other factors;
disruptions in transportation channels; or
major public health concerns such as pandemics or other factors.

Our Revenues are Subject to Seasonal Variations. In previous years, our revenues have been characterized by seasonality, with
revenues typically growing from the first quarter to the second quarter, being relatively constant from the second quarter to thethird
quarter, growing in the fourth quarter compared to the third quarter and declining in the first quarter of the following year from the
fourth quarter of the preceding year. This historical trend has been affected and may continue to be affected in the future by broad
fluctuations in the global industrial economy as well as the timing of new product introductions or any acquisitions. In addition,
revenue derived from very large orders, including those from our very large customers, have had a significant imp act o n o ur
historical seasonal trends as these orders may be more sensitive to changes in the global industrial economy, may be subject t o
greater volatility in timing and amount, greater discount variability, lower gross margins, and may contract at a faster pace during
economic downturns.
Our Tax Returns and Other Tax Matters are Subject to Examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and Other Tax
Authorities and Governmental Bodies and the Results of These Examinations Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on Our
Financial Condition. We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our financial s t atement s u sin g p rescrib ed
recognition thresholds and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken
on our tax returns. These uncertain tax positions are subject to examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and other t ax
authorities. There can be no assurance as to the outcome of any future examinations. If the ultimate determination of our taxes owed
is for an amount in excess of amounts previously accrued, our operating results, cash flows, and financial condit io n co uld b e
materially adversely affected. Our tax years 2013 through 2019 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to
which we are subject.
Acquisitions, Joint Ventures, Alliances, or Similar Strategic Relationships, or Dispositions of Any of Our Businesses, and the
Related Integration or Separation Risks May Disrupt or Otherwise Have a Material Adverse Effect on Our B usi ness a nd
Financial Results. As part of our business strategy, we pursue selective acquisitions, as well as joint ventures, p art nerships,
alliances, or similar strategic transactions and relationships with third parties, to support our business. We may also u ndertake
dispositions of certain of our businesses or products. Achieving the anticipated benefits of an acquisit ion o r o t her s trat egic
transaction depends upon whether the integration of the acquired business, products or technology is accomplished efficiently and
effectively. In addition, successful transactions generally require, among other things, integration of product offerings,
manufacturing operations and coordination of sales and marketing and research and development efforts. These difficulties can
become more challenging due to the need to coordinate geographically separated organizations, the complexities of the technologies
being integrated, and the necessities of integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and combining different corporate
cultures. The time invested in completing any strategic transaction as well as the integration of operations following a stra tegic
transaction also requires the dedication of management resources, which may distract attention from our day-to-day business and
may disrupt key research and development, marketing or sales efforts. Our inability to successfully integrate any of our acquisitions
could harm our business. The existing products previously sold by entities we have acquired may be of a lesser quality than our
products or could contain errors that produce incorrect results on which users rely or cause failure or interruption of systems o r
processes that could subject us to liability claims that could have a material adverse effect on our operating results or fin an cial
position. Furthermore, products acquired, developed, or marketed in connection with acquisitions or other strategic transactions may
not gain acceptance in our markets, and we may not achieve the anticipated or desired benefits of such transactions.
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Similarly, any divestitures have inherent risks, including the inability to find potential buyers with favorable terms, the
expense of selling the entity, business, or product line, the possibility that any anticipated sale will be delayed or will not occur, the
potential impact on our cash flows and results of operations which may dilute our earnings per share, the potential delay or failure to
realize the perceived strategic or financial merits of the divestment, difficulties in the separation of operations, services, information
technology, products and personnel, potential loss of customers or employees, exposure to unanticipated liabilities, unexpected costs
associated with such separation, diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns and potential post-closing claims
for alleged breaches of related agreements, indemnification or other disputes.
Future acquisitions or dispositions could also result in the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilit ies o r amo rt izat io n
expenses, or write-offs of goodwill and other intangible assets, any of which could harm our financial condition.
Tax Law Changes in Hungary Could Have a Negative Impact on our Effective Tax Rate, Earnings and Resultsof Operations.
The profit from our Hungarian operations benefits from the fact that it is subject to an effective income tax rate that is lower than the
U.S. federal statutory tax rate. Our earnings in Hungary are subject to a statutory tax rate of 9%. In addition, effective January 1,
2010, certain qualified research and development expenses in Hungary became eligible for an enhanced tax deduction. These tax
benefits may not be available in future years due to changes in political conditions in Hungary or changes in tax laws in Hungary or
in the U.S. The reduction or elimination of these benefits in Hungary could result in an increase in our future effective inc ome tax
rate which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. (See Note 10 - Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the impact of these matters on our income taxes).
Our Income Tax Rate Could be Adversely Affected by the Expiration of a Tax Holiday in M a l aysi a. Pro fit s fro m o u r
manufacturing facility in Penang, Malaysia are free of tax under a 15-year tax holiday effective January 1, 2013. The tax holiday has
been extended for a period of ten years starting from the year 2028. If we fail to satisfy the conditions of the tax holiday, this tax
benefit may be terminated early. The expiration of the tax holiday in Malaysia could have a material adverse effect on our operating
results. (See Note 10 - Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding theimpact of
this tax holiday on our income taxes).
Our Business is Dependent on Key Suppliers and Distributors and Disruptions in these Businesses Could Adversely Affect
Our Business and Results of Operations. Our manufacturing processes use large volumes of high-q ualit y co mp on ent s an d
subassemblies supplied by outside sources. Several of these items are only available through limited sources. Limited source items
purchased include custom ASICs, chassis and other components. We have in the past experienced delays and quality problems in
connection with limited source items, and there can be no assurance that these problems will not recur in the future. Accordingly, our
failure to receive items from limited source item suppliers could result in a material adverse effect on our net sales and operating
results. In the event that any of our limited source suppliers experience significant financial or operational difficulties due to adverse
global economic conditions or otherwise, our business and operating results would likely be adversely impacted until we are able to
secure another source for the required materials.
In some countries, we use distributors to support our sales channels. In the event that any of our d ist rib ut o rs exp erien ce
significant financial or operational difficulties due to adverse global economic conditions or if we experience disruptions in the use
of these distributors, our business and operating results would likely be adversely impacted until we are able to secure an oth er
distributor or establish direct sales capabilities in the affected market.
We May Experience Component Shortages that May Adversely Affect Our Business and Result of Operations. As has occurred
in the past and as may be expected to occur in the future, supply shortages of components used in our products, including limited
source components, can result in significant additional costs and inefficiencies in manufacturing. If we are unsuccessful in resolving
any such component shortages in a timely manner, we will experience a significant impact on the timing of revenue, a possible loss
of revenue, or an increase in manufacturing costs, any of which would have a material adverse impact on our operating results.
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We Rely on Management Information Systems and Interruptions in our Information Technology Systems or Cyber-Attacks
on our Systems Could Adversely Affect Our Business. We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of complex information
technology systems and networks, including cloud-based and other outsourced services, to operate our business. We rely o n a
primary global center for our management information systems and on multiple systems in branches not covered by our g lo bal
center. As with any information system, unforeseen issues may arise that could affect our ability to receive adequate, accurate and
timely financial information, which in turn could inhibit effective and timely decisions. Furthermore, it is possible that our global
center for information systems or our branch operations could experience a complete or partial shutdown. A significant system or
network disruption could be the result of new system implementations, facility issues, energy blackouts, and co mputer viruses,
cyber-attacks, or security breaches, some of which may remain undetected for an extended period. Threats to our informat io n
technology security can take a variety of forms and individuals or groups of hackers or sophisticated organizations including statesponsored organizations, may take steps that pose threats to our customers and our infrastructure. If we were t o exp erien ce a
shutdown, disruption or attack, it would adversely impact our product shipments and net sales, as order processin g and product
distribution are heavily dependent on our management information systems. Such an interruption could also result in a loss of our
intellectual property or the release of sensitive competitive information or partner, customer or employee confidential information or
personal data. Any loss of such information could harm our competitive position, result in a loss of customer confidence, and cause
us to incur liability and significant costs to remedy the damages caused by the disruptions or security breaches. In addition, changing
laws and regulations governing our responsibility to safeguard private data could result in a significant increase in operating o r
capital expenditures needed to comply with these new laws or regulations. Accordingly, our operating results in such periods would
be adversely impacted. From time to time, we have experienced attempts to breach our security and attempts to introduce malicious
software into our information technology systems; however, such attacks have not previously resulted in any material damage to us.
We are continually working to maintain reliable systems to control costs and improve our ability to deliver our products in our
markets worldwide. Our efforts include, but are not limited to the following: firewalls, antivirus protection, patches, log monitors,
routine backups with offsite retention of storage media, system audits, data partitioning and routine password modifications. Our
internal information technology systems environment continues to evolve, and our business policies and internal security controls
may not keep pace as new threats emerge. No assurance can be given that our efforts to continue to enhance our systems will be
successful. Although we maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that such insurance or the contractual limitations used by us
to limit our liability will be sufficient to cover or limit any claims which may occur.
We are Subject to Risks Associated with Our Website. We devote significant resources to maintaining our website, ni.com, as a
key marketing, sales and support tool and expect to continue to do so in the future. Failure to properly maintain our website may
interrupt our normal operations, including our ability to provide quotes, process orders, ship products, provide services and support
to our customers, bill and track our customers, fulfill contractual obligations and otherwise run our business, which would have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations. We host our website internally. Any failure to successfully maintain our website
or any significant downtime or outages affecting our website could have a material adverse impact on our operating results.
Our Products are Complex and May Contain Bugs, Vulnerabilities, Errors, or Design Flaws. As has occurred in thepast and
as may be expected to occur in the future, our hardware products, software products and third -party components o r o p erat in g
systems on which our products are based may contain bugs, vulnerabilities, errors or design flaws. Ou r p ro d uct s o perate in
conjunction with third-party products and components across a broad ecosystem. As has occurred in thepast and as may be expected
to occur in the future, our products, or products or components in conjunction with which they operate, may contain design flaws.
These bugs, vulnerabilities, errors or design flaws, or fixes to these issues, may have a negative impact on the performance of our
products, which could result in additional costs, liability claims, reduced revenue, or harm to our reputation or competitiveposition,
any of which could have a material adverse impact on our operating results. Although we maintain insurance, there can b e n o
assurance that such insurance or the contractual limitations used by us to limit our liability will be sufficient to cover or limit any
claims which may occur.
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We Are Subject to the Risk of Product Liability Claims. Our products are designed to provide information upon which users
may rely. Our products are also used in “real time” applications requiring extremely rapid and continuous processing and constant
feedback. Such applications give rise to the risk that a failure or interruption of the system or application could result in economic
damage, bodily harm or property damage. We attempt to assure the quality and accuracy of the processes contained in our products,
and to limit our product liability exposure through contractual limitations on liability, limited warranties, express disclaimers and
warnings as well as disclaimers contained in our “shrink wrap” and electronically displayed license agreements with end-users. If
our products contain errors that produce incorrect results on which users rely or cause failure or interruption of systems or processes,
customer acceptance of our products could be adversely affected. Further, we or our customers could be subject to product recall
obligations, and we could be subject to liability claims that could have a material adverse effect on our operating results o r financial
position. Although we maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that such insurance or the contractual limitations used by us to
limit our liability will be sufficient to cover or limit any claims which may occur.
Compliance with Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 is Costly and Challenging.
As required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, this Form 10-K contains our management’s certification of adequate
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019. This annual report on Form 10-K also contain s a rep o rt b y o u r
management on our internal control over financial reporting including an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 and an attestation and report by our external auditors with respect to theeffectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. While these assessments and
reports did not reveal any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, compliance with Sections 302 and
404 is required for each future fiscal year end. We expect that the ongoing compliance with Sections 302 and 404 will continue to be
both very costly and very challenging and there can be no assurance that material weaknesses will not be identified in future periods.
Any adverse results from such ongoing compliance efforts could result in a loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and
have an adverse effect on our stock price.
Our Business Depends on Our Proprietary Rights and We Have Been Subject to Intellectual Property Litigation. Our success
depends on our ability to obtain and maintain patents and other proprietary rights relative to the technologies used in our p rincipal
products. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may have in the past infringed or violated certain
of our intellectual property rights. We from time to time engage in litigation to protect our intellectual property rights. In monitoring
and policing our intellectual property rights, we have been and may be required to spend significant resources. However, thesteps
we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights, may not be adequate to prevent unauthorized use, copying,
misappropriation, or theft of our intellectual property or other infringement on or violation of our intellectual propert y rig h ts.
Intellectual property laws differ in various jurisdictions in which we operate and are subject to change at any time, which c ould
further restrict our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. In particular, a portion of our revenues is derived
from jurisdictions where adequately protecting intellectual property rights may prove more challenging or impossible. Wemay also
not be able to detect unauthorized uses or take timely and effective steps to remedy unauthorized conduct. To prevent or respond to
unauthorized uses of our intellectual property, we may be required to engage in costly and time-consuming litigation o r o t her
proceedings and we may not ultimately prevail. We from time to time may be notified that we are infringing certain p atent o r
intellectual property rights of others. There can be no assurance that any future intellectual property dispute or litiga tion will not
result in significant expense, liability, injunction against the sale of some of our products, and a diversio n o f man ag emen t ’s
attention, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
Our Business Depends on the Continued Service of Our Key Management and Technical Personnel. Our success depends
upon the continued contributions of our key management, sales, marketing, research and development and operational personnel,
including Eric Starkloff, who became our President and Chief Executive Officer effective February 1, 2020, and other members of
our senior management and key technical personnel. The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees in the future
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. We also believe our future success will depend upon our ability to
attract and retain additional highly skilled management, technical, marketing, research and development, and operational personnel
with experience in managing large and rapidly changing companies, as well as training, motivating and supervising employees. The
market for hiring and retaining certain technical personnel, including software engineers, has become more competitive and intense
in recent years. Failure to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified technical personnel, including software engineers, or
retain our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
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Our Operations are Subject to a Variety of Environmental Regulations and Costs that May Have a Material AdverseEffect on
Our Business and Results of Operations. We must comply with many different governmental regulations related t o t h e u se,
storage, discharge and disposal of toxic, volatile or otherwise hazardous chemicals used in our operations in the U.S., Hungary, and
Malaysia. Although we believe that our activities conform to presently applicable environmental regulations, our failure to comply
with present or future regulations could result in the imposition of fines, suspension of production or a cessation of operations. Any
such environmental regulations could require us to acquire costly equipment or to incur other significant expenses to comply with
such regulations. Any failure by us to control the use of or adequately restrict the discharge of hazardous substances could subject us
to future liabilities.
Provisions in Our Charter Documents and Delaware Law May Delay or Prevent an Acquisition of Us. Our certificat e o f
incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acq uire u s
without the consent of our Board of Directors. These provisions include a classified Board of Directors, prohibition of stockholder
action by written consent, prohibition of stockholders to call special meetings and the requirement that the holders of at least 80% of
our shares approve any business combination not otherwise approved by two-thirds of our Board of Directors. Delaware law also
imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and an y h o ld er o f 15% o r mo re o f o u r
outstanding common stock. In addition, our Board of Directors has the right to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval,
which could be used to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer.
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ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

We own approximately 141 acres of land in theAustin, Texas area. Our principal corporate and research and development
activities are conducted in three buildings we own in Austin, Texas; 232,000 square foot and 140,000 square foot office facilities,
and a 380,000 square foot research and development facility.
Our principal manufacturing activities are conducted in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. We own a 374,000
square foot manufacturing, distribution and general and administrative facility in Debrecen, Hungary and a 314,000 square foot
manufacturing, research and development, and general and administrative facility in Penang, Malaysia. In total, we hold a 99-year
lease on approximately 23 acres of land comprised of two tracts in an industrial park in Penang, Malaysia.
Our German subsidiary, National Instruments Engineering GmbH & Co. KG, owns a 25,500 square foot office building in
Aachen, Germany in which a majority of its activities are conducted. National Instruments Engineering owns another 19,375 square
foot office building in Aachen, Germany, which is partially leased to third-parties. National Instruments Corporation (UK) Limited,
United Kingdom, owns a 29,270 square foot office building in Newbury, UK, in which a majority of its activities are conducted.
As of December 31, 2019, we also leased a number of sales and support offices in the U.S. and various countries
throughout the world. We believe our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material litigation. However, in the ordinary course of our business, we have in thepast,
are currently and will likely become involved in various legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory, tax or government inquiries and
investigations, and could incur uninsured liability in any one or more of them. We also periodically receive notificat ions fr o m
various third parties related to alleged infringement of patents or intellectual property rights, commercial disputes or other matters.
No assurances can be given with respect to the extent or outcome of any investigation, litigation or dispute.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.
MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol NATI effective March 13, 1995.
At the close of business on February 7, 2020, there were approximately 293 holders of record of our common stock and
approximately 44,584 beneficial holders of our common stock.
We believe factors such as quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations, announcements by us or our competitors,
changes in earnings estimates by analysts or changes in our financial guidance, technological innovations, new product
introductions, governmental regulations, actions, or litigation, may cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate, perhaps
substantially. In addition, stock prices for many technology companies fluctuate widely for reasons that may be unrelated to their
operating results. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Our cash dividend payments for the two most recent fiscal years, on a per share basis, are indicated in the following table.
The dividends were paid on the dates set forth below:
Dividend Amount
2019
March 4, 2019
June 3, 2019
September 3, 2019
December 2, 2019

$
$
$
$

0.25
0.25
0.25
0.25

2018
March 5, 2018
June 4, 2018
September 4, 2018
December 3, 2018

$
$
$
$

0.23
0.23
0.23
0.23

Our policy as to whether any future dividends will be paid, and if so, the amount, will be based on, among other
considerations, our balance of available cash, our ability to obtain external financing through our line of credit, or by selling equity
or debt securities to the public or to selected investors, our views on changes in tax rates applied to dividend income, potential future
capital requirements related to research and development, expansion into new market areas, strategic investments and busin ess
acquisitions, share dilution management, legal risks, and challenges to our business model. Future dividends are subject to approval
and declaration by our Board of Directors.
On January 29, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.26 per common share, payable on
March 9, 2020, to stockholders of record on February 18, 2020.
Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

Period
October 1, 2019 to October 31, 2019
November 1, 2019 to November 30, 2019
December 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019
Total

Total number
of shares
purchased

Average price
paid per share

Total number of
shares purchased
as part of
publicly
announced plans
or programs

—
794,324
—
794,324

—
42.98
—
42.98

—
794,324
—
794,324

Maximum number
of shares that may
yet be purchased
under the plans or
programs (1)
3,794,324
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000

(1) On April 21, 2010, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time, depending on market
conditions and other factors. On January 23, 2019, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that may be
repurchased to 4,000,000 shares. On October 23, 2019, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that
may be repurchased by 3,000,000 shares. At December 31, 2019, there were 3,000,000 shares remaining available for repurchase under our stock repurchase
program. This repurchase program does not have an expiration date.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total return to holders of NI’s common stock from December 31, 2014 to
December 31, 2019 to the cumulative return over such period of the (i) Nasdaq Composite Index, (ii) Russell 2000 Index and (iii)
Russell 2500 Index.
The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2014 in NI’s common stock and in each of the three indices
and the reinvestment of all dividends, if any. Stockholders are cautioned against drawing any conclusions from the data contained
therein, as past results are not necessarily indicative of future performance.

.

National Instruments
Nasdaq
Russell 2500
Russell 2000

12/31/2014
100
100
100
100

12/31/2015
94.7
107.1
97.1
95.6

12/31/2016
104.7
116.7
114.2
115.9

12/31/2017
144.6
151.4
133.3
132.9

12/31/2018
160.8
147.2
120.0
118.2

12/31/2019
153.6
201.2
153.2
148.4

The information contained in the Performance Graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with
the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act, or the Exchange
Act, except to the extent that NI specifically incorporates it by reference into any such filing. The graph is presented in accordance
with SEC requirements.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements,
including the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Form 10-K. The information set forth belo w is n o t
necessarily indicative of the results of our future operations. The information should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”




For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)
2019 (1)

2018 (1)

2017

2016

2015

Statements of Income Data:
Net sales:
Americas
EMEIA
APAC

$

Consolidated net sales
Cost of sales:
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Gain on sale of assets
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain
Other (expense) income, net

538,679 $ 538,388 $ 504,626 $ 482,039 $ 496,746
403,424
432,977
408,625
389,843
409,119
411,112
387,767
376,135
356,297
319,591
1,353,215
1,359,132
1,289,386
1,228,179
1,225,456
336,891
333,727
328,324
313,121
316,956
1,016,324
1,025,405
961,062
915,058
908,500
473,392
272,452
122,768
(26,842)
841,770
174,554

482,576
261,072
108,878
—
852,526
172,879

477,921
231,761
105,602
—
815,284
145,778

461,236
235,706
98,390
—
795,332
119,726

452,262
225,131
93,935
—
771,328
137,172

5,896
(3,423)
1,101
176,453
21,396
155,057 $

2,276
892
(1,566)
147,380
94,969
52,411 $

1,122
(4,632)
(1,581)
114,635
31,901
82,734 $

1,403
(7,075)
(221)
131,279
36,017
95,262

1.17 $

0.40 $

0.64 $

0.74

Net income

$

8,129
(1,846)
(293)
180,544
18,393
162,151 $

Basic earnings per share

$

1.23 $

Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic
Diluted earnings per share

131,722
$

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted
Cash dividends declared per common share

1.22 $
132,734

$

1.00 $

131,987
1.16 $
133,274
0.92 $

130,300
0.40 $
131,387
0.84 $

128,453
0.64 $
129,008
0.80 $

127,997
0.74
128,668
0.76

(1) On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective method of adoption. Prior period s have not been adjusted. See
Note 1 - Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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December 31,
(in thousands)
2019
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Total stockholders' equity

$

2018

2017

2016

2015

194,616 $ 259,386 $ 290,164 $ 285,283 $ 251,129
237,983
271,396
121,888
73,117
81,789
641,235
739,236
624,835
574,572
559,525
1,651,889
1,671,235
1,566,434
1,496,564
1,453,856
—
—
—
25,000
37,000
1,176,350
1,238,358
1,128,021
1,114,219
1,081,721
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ITEM 7.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” co ntai ns
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act . An y
statements contained herein regarding our future financial performance, operations, or other activities ( in cl udi ng, w i t hout
limitation, statements to the effect that we “believe,” “expect,” “plan,” ''intend to,” “may,” “will,” “project,” “an t icipa te ”,
“continue,” "strive to," "seek to," "are encouraged by," "remain cautious," "remain optimistic," or “estimate”; st a tements o f
"goals" or "visions"; or other variations thereof or comparable terminology or the negative thereof) should be considered forwardlooking statements. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of a
number of important factors including those set forth under the heading “Risk Factors”, and elsewhere in thisForm 10-K. Although
we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statemen ts. We
disclaim any obligation to update information contained in any forward-looking statement.
Overview
For more than 40 years, we have enabled engineers and scientists around the world to accelerate productivity, innovation
and discovery. Our software-centric platform provides an advanced approach through integration of software and modular hardware
to create automated test and automated measurement systems. We believe our long -term track record o f in n o vatio n an d o ur
differentiated platform helps support the success of our customers, employees, suppliers and shareholders. We have been profitable
in every year since 1990. We sell to a large number of customers in a wide variety of industries. No single customer represented
more than 3% of our sales in each of the last three years.
The key strategies that we focus on in running our business are the following:
Expand our available market opportunity
We strive to increase our available market by identifying new opportunities in existing customers, attracting and serving
new customers, and expanding our business to market adjacencies. Our large network of existing customers provides a broad base
from which to expand.
Maintaining a high level of customer satisfaction
To maintain a high level of customer satisfaction we strive to offer innovative, modular and integrated products through a
global sales and support network. We strive to maintain a high degree of backwards compatibility across different platforms t o
preserve the customer’s investment in our products. In this time of intense global competition, we believe it is crucial t h at we
continue to offer products with high quality and reliability, and that our products provide cost-effective solutions for our customers.
Leveraging external and internal technology
Our product strategy is to provide superior products by leveraging generally available technology, supporting
open architectures on multiple platforms and by leveraging our core technologies across multiple products.
We sell into test and measurement and industrial/embedded applications in a broad range of industries and are subject to the
economic and industry forces that drive those markets. It has been our experience that the performance of these industries and our
performance are impacted by general trends in industrial production for the global eco nomy and by the specific performance of
certain vertical markets that are intensive consumers of measurement technologies. Examples of these markets are semiconductor,
transportation, and aerospace, defense and government.
Leveraging a worldwide sales, distribution and manufacturing network
We distribute and sell our software and hardware products primarily through a direct sales organization. We als o u se
independent distributors, OEMs, VARs, system integrators and consultants to market and sell our products. We have sales offices in
the U.S. and sales offices and distributors in key international markets. Sales outside of the Americas accounted for approximately
60% of our revenues in each of 2019 and 2018 and 61% of our revenues during 2017. The vas t majority of our foreign sales are
denominated in the customers’ local currency, which exposes us to the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We
expect that a significant portion of our total revenues will continue to be derived from int ernational sales. (See Note 2 – Revenue
and Note 14 - Segment information of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for details concerning the geographic breakdown
of our net sales and long-lived assets, respectively).
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We manufacture substantially all of our product volume at our facilities in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. Our
product manufacturing operations can be divided into four areas: electronic circuit card and module assembly; chassis and cable
assembly; technical manuals and product support documentation; and software duplication. Most of our electronic circuit card
assemblies, modules and chassis are manufactured in house, although contractors are used from time to time. The majority of our
electronic cable assemblies are produced by contractors; however, we do manufacture some on an exception basis. Our software
duplication, technical manuals and product support documentation are primarily produced by contractors.
Delivering high quality, reliable products
We believe that our long-term growth and success depend on delivering high quality software and hardware products on a
timely basis. Accordingly, we focus significant efforts on research and development. We focus our research and development efforts
on enhancing existing products and developing new products that incorporate appropriate feat ures and fu nctio nalit y t o b e
competitive with respect to technology, price and performance. Our success also depends on our ability to obtain and main t ain
patents and other proprietary rights related to technologies used in our products. We have engaged in litigation and where necessary,
will likely engage in future litigation to protect our intellectual property rights. In monitoring and policing our intellectual property
rights, we have been and may be required to spend significant resources.
Our operating results fluctuate from period to period due to changes in global economic conditions and a number of other
factors. As a result, we believe our historical results of operations should not be relied upon as indications of future performance.
There can be no assurance that our net sales will grow or that we will remain profitable in future periods.
Current business outlook
Many of the industries we serve have historically been cyclical and have experienced periodic downturns. In assessing our
business, we consider the trends in the Global Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI”), global industrial production as well as industry
reports on the specific vertical industries that we target. During most of 2019, the PMI continued to steadily decline, indicating
ongoing weakness in the industrial economy. The PMI was below 50.0 for six months of the year (May to October), the longest
period of contraction in the past seven years. Despite softening demand in the industrial economy for most of the year, we were able
to finish the year strong with record quarterly revenue in the fourth quarter. During the fourth quarter of 2019, the PMI re ading
showed initial signs of recovery, as the average of the PMI was 50.1 and the average of the new order element of the PMI was 50.3.
For January 2020, the most recent PMI reading was 50.4, a nine-month high. For January 2020, the new order element of the PMI
was 50.9. We are unable to predict whether the industrial economy, as measured by the PMI, will remain above the neutral reading
of 50, strengthen or contract during 2020.
We have taken steps to improve efficiencies and rebalance our resources on higher return activities. The timing and scope
of any future headcount reduction will vary.
We are encouraged by signs of stabilization in the industrial economy along with the improvements we have madeto our
operating profitability over the past three years. We remain optimistic about our long -term position in the industry throug h t h e
sustained differentiation we deliver to our customers through our platform-based approach. However, we remain cautious about a
variety of factors, including public health concerns such as those in China, that could have an adverse impact on our resu lts o f
operations heading into 2020.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of net sales represented by geographic region and
by certain items reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Income:
Years ended December 31,
2018

2019
Net sales:
Americas
EMEIA
APAC
Consolidated net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Gain on sale of assets
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Net foreign exchange gain (loss)
Other expense, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

2017

39.8%
29.8
30.4
100.0
24.9
75.1

39.6%
31.9
28.5
100.0
24.6
75.4

39.1%
31.7
29.2
100.0
25.5
74.5

35.0
20.1
9.1
(2.0)
62.2
12.9

35.5
19.2
8.0
—
62.7
12.7

37.1
18.0
8.2
—
63.3
11.3

0.6
(0.1)
—
13.3
1.4
12.0%

0.4
(0.3)
0.1
13.0
1.6
11.4%

0.2
0.1
(0.1)
11.4
7.4
4.1%

Figures may not sum due to rounding.
Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Net Sales. The following table sets forth our net sales for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 along with
the percent changes between the corresponding periods.
Years ended December 31,
($ in millions)
Product sales
Software maintenance sales
Total net sales

2019
$
$

1,215.0
138.2
1,353.2

Change
(0.4)%
(0.6)%
(0.4)%

2018
$
$

1,220.0
139.1
1,359.1

Change
4.0%
20.0%
5.4%

2017
$
$

1,173.5
115.9
1,289.4

In 2019, product and software maintenance sales decreased slightly compared to 2018. The decrease in p ro d uct an d
software maintenance sales during the period was primarily attributable to unfavorable changes in exchange rates and g eneral
weakness in the industrial economy throughout most of 2019, particularly in the EMEIA region, which was partially offset b y
strength in the APAC region.
In 2018, product and software maintenance sales increased compared to 2017. The increases in product sales during 2018 is
attributable to increased sales volume, particularly for orders greater than $20,000, across all geographic regions. The inc rease in
software maintenance sales during 2018 can primarily be attributed to increased adoption of our software platform and increased
recurring revenues related to software maintenance renewals.
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Orders with a value greater than $20,000 increased by 4% year over year during 2019 compared to a y ear o v er y ear
increase of 13% in 2018. Orders with a value greater than $20,000 were 60%, 58%, and 56% of our total orders for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. A significant factor in the continued expansion of these orders in the year ended
December 31, 2019, compared to 2018 and 2017, was strong demand for our system-level offerings, particularly within the
semiconductor and ADG end markets. Orders with a value greater than $20,000, particularly those orders with a value greater than
$100,000, are more volatile, are subject to greater discount variability and may contract at a faster pace d urin g an eco nomic
downturn.
We do not typically maintain a large amount of order backlog as orders typically translate to sales quickly. As such, any
weakness in orders typically has a pronounced impact on our net sales in the short term.
The following table sets forth our net sales by geographic region for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
along with the changes between the corresponding periods and the region’s percentage of total net sales.


Years ended December 31,
($ in millions)

2019

Change

2018

Change

2017

Americas
Percentage of total net sales

$

538.7
40%

0.1%

$

538.4
40%

6.7%

$

504.6
39%

EMEIA
Percentage of total net sales

$

403.4
30%

(6.8)%

$

433.0
32%

6.0%

$

408.6
32%

APAC
Percentage of total net sales

$

411.1
30%

6.0%

$

387.8
28%

3.1%

$

376.1
29%

We expect sales outside of the Americas to continue to represent a significant portion of our revenue. We intend to continue
to expand our international operations by increasing our presence in existing markets, adding a presence in some new geographical
markets and continuing the use of distributors to sell our products in some countries.
Almost all of the sales made by our direct sales offices in the Americas (excluding the U.S.), EMEIA, and A PA C are
denominated in local currencies, and accordingly, the U.S. dollar equivalent of these sales is affected by changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. In order to provide a framework for assessing how our underlying business performed excluding the effect s o f
foreign currency fluctuations between periods, we compare the percentage change in our results from period to period using constant
currency calculations. To calculate the change in constant currency, current and comparative prior period res ult s fo r en t it ie s
reporting in currencies other than U.S. Dollars are converted into U.S. Dollars at constant exchange rates (i.e. the average rates in
effect during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively). The following tables present this information, along with
the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on sales denominated in local currencies, for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.


Year Ended
December 31,
2018
GAAP
Net Sales

($ in millions)
Americas
EMEIA
APAC
Total net sales

$

$

538.4 $
433.0
387.8
1,359.1 $

Change
in Constant Dollars
Dollars
1.0
(19.2)
31.1
12.9

Impact of changes in foreign
currency exchange rates on
net sales

Percentage
0.2%
(4.4)%
8.0%
1.0%

Figures may not sum due to rounding.
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Dollars
$

$

(0.7)
(10.4)
(7.7)
(18.9)

Year Ended
December 31,
2019
GAAP
Net Sales

Percentage
(0.1)%
(2.4)%
(2.0)%
(1.4)%

$

$

538.7
403.4
411.1
1,353.2

Table of Contents

Year Ended
December 31,
2017
GAAP
Net Sales

($ in millions)
Americas
EMEIA
APAC
Total net sales

$

$

504.6 $
408.6
376.1
1,289.4 $

Impact of changes in foreign
currency exchange rates on
net sales

Change
in Constant Dollars
Dollars

Percentage

33.0
10.5
4.3
47.7

6.5%
2.6%
1.1%
3.7%

Dollars
$

$

Year Ended
December 31,
2018
GAAP
Net Sales

Percentage

0.8
13.9
7.4
22.1

0.2%
3.4%
2.0%
1.7%

$

538.4
433.0
387.8
1,359.1

$

Figures may not sum due to rounding.
To help protect against changes in the U.S. dollar equivalent value caused by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates of forecasted foreign currency cash flows resulting from international sales, we hedge portions of our forecasted rev en ue
denominated in foreign currencies with average rate forward contracts. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging activities
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our cash flow hedging program and its related impact
on our consolidated sales for 2019 and 2018).
Gross Profit. The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 along with the percentage changes in gross profit for the corresponding periods. We continue to
focus on cost control and cost reduction measures throughout our manufacturing cycle.

($ in millions)
Gross Profit
Gross Profit as a percentage of net sales

Years Ended December 31,
Change
2018
Change

2019
$

1,016.3
75.1%

(0.9)%

$

1,025.4
75.4%

6.7%

2017
$

961.1
74.5%

The slight decreases in our gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of sales during the year ended December 31, 2019
can be attributed to changes in product mix and foreign currency exchange rates. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, the change in exchange rates had the effect of decreasing our cost of sales by $3.3 million and increasing our cost of sales $3.2
million, respectively. To help protect against changes in our cost of sales caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates
of forecasted foreign currency cash flows, we hedge portions of our forecasted costs of sales denominated in foreign currencies with
average rate forward contracts. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, these hedges had the effect of increasing our
cost of sales by $0.5 million and decreasing our cost of sales by $0.7 million, respectively. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and
hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our cash flow hedging program
and its related impacted on our results of operations).
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Operating Expenses. The following table sets forth our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018,
and 2017 along with the percentage changes between the corresponding periods and the line item as a percentage of total net sales.


($ in thousands)

2019

Years Ended December 31,
Change
2018
Change

2017

Sales and marketing
Percentage of total net sales

$

473,392
35 %

(2)%

$

482,576
36%

1%

$

477,921
37%

Research and development
Percentage of total net sales

$

272,452
20 %

4%

$

261,072
19%

13%

$

231,761
18%

General and Administrative
Percentage of total net sales

$

122,768
9%

13%

$

108,878
8%

3%

$

105,602
8%

Gain on sale of assets
Percentage of total net sales

$

(26,842)
(2)%

100%

$

—
—%

—%

$

—
—%

Total operating expenses
Percentage of total net sales

$

841,770
62 %

(1)%

$

852,526
63%

5%

$

815,284
63%

On August 29, 2019, we sold an office building and recognized a gain on the sale of $26.8 million, which is presented as
"Gain on sale of assets" on the Consolidated Statements of Income, in accordance with ASC 360 - Property, Plant and Equipment
(See note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further
discussion on our Gain on Sales of Assets). The $16 million increase in our operating expenses, excluding the gain on sale of assets,
during 2019 compared to 2018 was primarily related to the following:
•

a $14 million increase due to additional stock-based compensation expense, primarily attributable to comparatively
higher stock prices on the grant date of unvested RSU awards and a shorter average service period for our awards;

•

a $13 million decrease related to the year over year impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates;

•

a $7 million increase due to a charitable contribution to a donor-advised fund using a portion of the proceeds from the
sale of an office building;

•

a $5 million increase related to a decrease in software development costs eligible for capitalization, as described in
more detail below;

•

a $6 million increase due to restructuring costs during the year; and

•

a $3 million decrease in personnel costs, primarily driven by a $12 million decrease in variable pay related to n o t
attaining the performance targets under our company performance bonus for 2019, partially offset by increases in
salaries and other variable pay plans intended to remain competitive with market levels;

The increase in research and development costs during 2019 was primarily related to a $5 million decrease in software
development costs eligible for capitalization and an increase in stock-based compensation expense. In the second quarter of 2018,
we began moving toward more frequent releases for many of our software products. Specifically, fo r man y o f o u r s o ft ware
development projects we started applying agile development methodologies which are characterized by a more dynamic
development process with more frequent and iterative revisions to a product's features and functions as the soft ware is b ein g
developed. Due to the shorter development cycle and focus on rapid production associated with agile development, we expect that
for a significant majority of our software development projects the costs incurred subsequent to the achievement of technological
feasibility will be immaterial in future periods and we expect to record significantly less capitalized software development costs than
under our historical software development approaches. Consequently, a larger portion of our software development expenditures are
being recognized as operating expenses in the future. We also expect amortization of previously capitalized software development
costs to steadily decline as previously capitalized software development costs become fully amortized over the next four years.
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The increase in our operating expenses in 2018 was primarily related to the following:
•

a $29 million increase in research and development expenses, primarily attributable to a decrease in software
development costs eligible for capitalization, as described in more detail above.

•

a $10 million increase in personnel costs, primarily attributable to an $8 million increase related to our equity
compensation costs due to higher stock prices. Additionally, increases in variable compensation costs to b e mo re
competitive with market levels were partially offset by lower salary and benefits costs, primarily related to headcount
reductions.

•

a $8 million increase related to the year over year impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

•

a $7 million decrease related to reductions in travel, outside services, and building and equipment costs. Thedecrease
in cash expenditures related to travel and outside services is consistent with our continued focus o n d is ciplin ed
expense management and cost optimization.

We believe that our long-term growth and success depends on developing high quality software and hardware products on a
timely basis. We are focused on leveraging recent investments in research and development and in our field sales force and ta king
actions to help ensure that those resources are focused in areas and initiatives that will contribute to future growth in our business.
Operating Income. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, operating income was $175 million, $173
million and $146 million, respectively, an increase of 1% in 2019, following an increase of 19% in 2018. As a percentage of net
sales, operating income was 13%, 13% and 11%, respectively, over the three-year period. The changes in operating inco me in
absolute dollars and as a percent of sales in 2018 and 2019 are attributable to the factors discussed in Net Sales, Gross Profit and
Operating Expenses above.
Interest Income. Interest income was $8.1 million, $5.9 million and $2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018, and 2017, respectively, an increase of 38% in 2019, following an increase of 159% in 2018. On average, yields in 2019 were
less favorable than in 2018, however, we benefited from higher yields on investments that were made in 2018 for the full year in
2019.
Net Foreign Exchange (Loss)/Gain. Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain was $(1.8) million, $(3.4) millio n , an d $0.9
million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. These results are attributable to movements in the
foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies in subsidiaries for which our functional currency is
not the U.S. dollar. During most of 2019, we saw continued volatility in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and many of the
currency markets where we have exposure, primarily in South Korea and Europe along with a moderately stronger U.S. dollar when
compared to 2018. As of February 20, 2020, the U.S. dollar index, as tracked by the St. Louis Federal Reserve, remains near its tenyear high. During 2018, we saw volatility in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and many of the currency markets where we
have exposure, primarily in China and some emerging markets along with a stronger U.S. dollar when compared to 2017. In the
past, we have noted that significant volatility in foreign currency exchange rates in the markets in which we do business has had a
significant impact on the revaluation of our foreign currency denominated firm commitments, on our ability to forecast our U.S.
dollar equivalent revenues and expenses and on the effectiveness of our hedging programs. In the past, these dynamics have also
adversely affected our revenue growth in international markets and may pose similar challenges in the future. We recognize the local
currency as the functional currency in virtually all of our international subsidiaries.
We utilize foreign currency forward contracts to hedge our foreign denominated net foreign currency b alance s heet
positions to help protect against the change in value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates. We typically hedge
up to 90% of our outstanding foreign denominated net receivable or payable positions and ty pically limit the duration of t h ese
foreign currency forward contracts to approximately 90 days. The gain or loss on these derivatives as well as the offsetting gain or
loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in current earnings under the line item “Net foreign exchange
Gain/loss”. Our hedging strategy increased our foreign exchange losses by $0.3 million, decreased our foreign exchange losses by
$0.3 million, and decreased our foreign exchange gains by $5.9 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. (See Note 5 Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further d escrip t ion o f o u r
derivative instruments and hedging activities).
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Provision for Income Taxes. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, our provision for income taxes
reflected an effective tax rate of 10%, 12% and 64%, respectively. The factors that caused our effective tax rates to change
year-over-year are detailed in the table below:
Years ended
December 31,
Effective tax rate for 2018
Increased profits in foreign jurisdictions with reduced income tax rates
Change in enhanced deduction for certain research and development expenses
Change in intercompany prepaid tax asset
Change in state income taxes, net of federal benefit
Global intangible low-taxed income inclusion ("GILTI")
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction
Global intangible low-taxed income deferred
Research and development tax credit
Nondeductible officer compensation
Outside basis difference on asset held for sale
Foreign tax on undistributed earnings
Effective tax rate for 2019

12%
4
1
1
(2)
(1)
(2)
2
(1)
1
(6)
1
10%

Years ended
December 31,
Effective tax rate for 2017
Change in U.S. federal tax rate
Increased profits in foreign jurisdictions with reduced income tax rates
Change in enhanced deduction for certain research and development expenses
Change in intercompany prepaid tax asset
Change in state income taxes, net of federal benefit
Remeasurement of U.S. deferred tax balance
Transition tax on deferred foreign income
Global intangible low-taxed income deferred ("GILTI")
Foreign tax on undistributed earnings
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction
Global intangible low-taxed income inclusion
Effective tax rate for 2018
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64%
(14)
8
(1)
2
2
10
(55)
(2)
(3)
(1)
2
12%
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Quarterly results of operations
The following quarterly results have been derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements that, in theopinion
of management, reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of such
quarterly information. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future
period. The following tables presenting our quarterly results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolid ated
financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The unaudited quarterly financial
data for each of the eight quarters in the two years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:
Three months ended
(in thousands, except per share data)
March 31, 2019
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Dividends declared per share

$

$
$
$

311,074
234,999
23,399
23,220
0.18
0.17
0.25

June 30, 2019
$

$
$
$

334,231
250,465
32,296
28,692
0.22
0.22
0.25

September 30,
2019
$
340,442
254,527
65,178
51,644
$
0.39
$
0.39
$
0.25

$

$
$
$

December 31,
2019
367,468
276,333
53,681
58,596
0.45
0.45
0.25





Three months ended
(in thousands, except per share data)
March 31, 2018
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Dividends declared per share

$

$
$
$

311,897
237,374
28,137
24,268
0.19
0.18
0.23
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June 30, 2018
$

$
$
$

341,009
258,850
36,912
31,054
0.24
0.23
0.23

September 30,
2018
$
346,127
257,112
46,010
43,194
$
0.33
$
0.32
$
0.23

$

$
$
$

December 31,
2018
360,099
272,070
61,821
56,541
0.43
0.42
0.23
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Other operational information
We believe that the following additional unaudited operational metrics assist investors in assessing our operational
performance relative to others in our industry and to our historical results. The following tables provide details with respect to
the amount of GAAP charges related to stock-based compensation, amortization of acquisition intangibles, acquisition-related
transaction costs, disposal gains on buildings and related charitable contributions, tax effects on businesses held -for-sale,
capitalization and amortization of internally developed software costs, and restructuring charges that were recorded in the line
items indicated below (in thousands).
(In thousands)
Stock-based compensation
Cost of sales
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes
Total

Three Months Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$

887 $
4,868
4,236
3,393
(1,433)
11,951 $

$

(In thousands)
Amortization of acquisition intangibles
Cost of sales
$
Sales and marketing
Research and development
Other loss, net
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes
Total
$

(In thousands)
Acquisition transaction costs,
restructuring charges, and other
Cost of sales
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative (1)
Gain on sale of asset (1)
Other loss, net
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes (2)
Total

816 $
3,810
3,489
2,010
(1,707)
8,418 $

Three Months Ended December 31,
2019
2018
823 $
485
28
124
(127)
1,333 $

810 $
505
28
—
(163)
1,180 $

Three Months Ended December 31,
2019
2018

$

$

— $
5,356
3,266
2,002
—
—
(13,477)
(2,853) $

244 $
2,300
297
341
—
—
237
3,419 $

Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018
3,475 $
19,612
16,265
12,086
(9,337)
42,101 $

3,231
14,218
12,580
7,587
(7,822)
29,794

Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018
3,348 $
1,970
112
409
(703)
5,136 $

3,258
2,085
113
—
(681)
4,775

Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018

— $
13,646
4,166
11,527
(26,842)
—
(12,237)
(9,740) $

2,057
10,654
2,092
1,879
—
709
(3,749)
13,642

(1): During the third quarter of 2019, we recognized a gain of $27 million related to the sale of an office building, present ed within "Gain on sale of assets". During
the third quarter of 2019, we also recognized a charitable contribution expense of $7 million related to a donation using a portion of the proceeds from the sale of
the property, presented within "General and Administrative".
(2): During the fourth quarter of 2019, we recognized an income tax benefit of $11 million related to the recognition of deferred taxes on the outside basis
difference of our AWR business, which was held-for-sale as of December 31, 2019.
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(In thousands)
(Capitalization) and amortization of
internally developed software costs
Cost of sales
Research and development
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes
Total

Three Months Ended December 31,
2019
2018

$

$

7,012 $
(1,887)
(1,076)
4,049 $

35

6,557 $
(1,056)
(1,155)
4,346 $

Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018

27,085 $
(9,066)
(3,784)
14,235 $

25,293
(14,208)
(2,328)
8,757
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
At December 31, 2019, we had $433 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Our cash and cash
equivalent balances are held in numerous financial institutions throughout the world, including substantial amounts held
outside of the U.S., however, all of our short-term investments that are located outside of the U.S. are denominated in the U.S.
dollar with the exception of $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds that are denominated in Euro. Our short -term
investments do not include any foreign sovereign debt. The following table presents the geographic distribution of our cash,
cash equivalents, and short-term investments as of December 31, 2019 (in millions):

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short-term Investments
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Shortterm Investments

Domestic
$55.9
29%
$164.3
69%

International
$138.7
71%
$73.7
31%

Total
$194.6

$220.2
51%

$212.4
49%

$432.6

$238.0

We utilize a variety of tax planning and financing strategies with the objective of having our worldwide cash available
in the locations in which it is needed. The following table presents our working capital, cash and cash equivalents and short term investments:


(In thousands)
Working capital
Cash and cash equivalents (1)
Short-term investments (1)
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Increase/
(Decrease)

$

641,235 $
194,616
237,983

739,236 $
259,386
271,396

(98,001)
(64,770)
(33,413)

$

432,599 $

530,782 $

(98,183)

(1) Included in working capital

Our principal sources of liquidity include cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, as well as the cash flows
generated from our operations. The primary drivers of the net decrease in working capital between December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2019 were:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments decreased by $98 million. Additional analysis of the changes in our
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 are discussed below.
"Accounts receivable, net" increased by $6 million. Days sales outstanding remained flat at 65 days at December 31,
2019, compared to December 31, 2018 related to increased sales during the fourth quarter of 2019.
Inventory increased by $6 million to $200 million at December 31, 2019, from $194 million at December 31, 2018.
Inventory turns decreased to 1.7 at December 31, 2019, compared to 1.8 at December 31, 2018. The increase in
inventory is primarily attributable to increases in raw materials to support production of newly released product
offerings.
Prepaid expenses and other current assets increased by $11 million, primarily related to the timing of prepaid
insurance and maintenance contracts.
Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased by $4 million, primarily related to timing of invoice payments to
vendors.
Accrued compensation increased by $2 million primarily related to a $6 million increase in accruals related to
severance as part of our restructuring initiative, partially offset by a decrease in accruals for variable pay.
The current portion of deferred revenue increased by $4 million, primarily related to extended hardware warranties.
Other current liabilities decreased by $5 million, primarily related to changes in the fair value of our foreign currency
forward exchange contracts offset by increases in the amount of current income taxes payable.
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•
•

Operating lease liabilities, current increased by $13 million, related to the adoption of the new leasing standard on
January 1, 2019, as discussed in Note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies and Note 9 Leases of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Other taxes payable increased by $5 million, primarily related to the timing of payments for VAT and other indirect
taxes.

Analysis of Cash Flow
The following table summarizes the proceeds and (uses) of cash:


(In thousands)
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash used by investing activities
Cash used by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net change in cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

$

2019
224,405
(17,948)
(270,817)
(410)
(64,770)
259,386
194,616

December 31,
2018
$
274,580 $
(209,996)
(90,843)
(4,519)
(30,778)
290,164
$
259,386 $

2017
224,442
(122,410)
(106,299)
9,148
4,881
285,283
290,164

Operating Activities Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased by $50
million compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. This decrease was primarily due to a $46 million decrease in cash
provided by operating assets and liabilities during the year and a $4 million decrease in net income excluding the effect of noncash items including stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, disposal gains, and deferred tax benefits.
Investing Activities Cash used for investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased by $192 million
compared to the same period in 2018. This was primarily attributable to a net sale of short -term investments of $34 million
compared to a net purchase of short-term investments of $150 million during the same period in 2018. The net sale of shortterm investments was primarily driven by funding needs to support our common stock repurchase activities. During 2019, we
received $32 million in proceeds from the sale of an office building. Cash outflows related to capitalized software development
also decreased by $5 million which was offset by an increase in capital expenditures and investments in other intangible assets
of $22 million compared to the same period in 2018. The increase in capital expenditures was primarily driven by expansions at
our manufacturing sites and improvements to our existing corporate headquarters. Additionally, during 2019 we deployed an
additional $8 million on strategic investments in equity-method investments and acquired businesses when compared to 2018.
Financing Activities Cash used by financing activities increased by $180 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the same period in 2018. This was primarily due to a $171 million increase in cash outflows related to repurchases of
our common stock, and a $10 million increase in cash outflows related to the increase in our quarterly dividend. From time t o time,
our Board of Directors has authorized various programs for our repurchase of shares of our common stock depending on market
conditions and other factors. Under the current program, we repurchased 4 million shares during the year ended December 31, 2019.
(See Note 12 – Authorized shares of common and preferred stock and stock-based compensation plans of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional discussion about our share repurchase program).
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Contractual Cash Obligations. The following summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2019:
Payments due by period
(In thousands)

Total

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Beyond

Tax payable (1)
75,120
5,969
7,279
7,279
13,648
18,198
22,747
Capital lease obligations
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
Operating leases
66,252
16,104
12,752
8,984
7,415
6,844
14,153
Total contractual
obligations
$
141,372 $
22,073 $
20,031 $
16,263 $
21,063 $ 25,042 $
36,900
(1) Represents one-time transition tax payable related to known amounts of cash taxes payable in future years as a result of the
Tax Act. For further information, refer to Note 10 - Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
We have commitments under non-cancelable operating leases primarily for office facilities throughout the world. Certain
leases require us to pay property taxes, insurance and routine maintenance, and include escalation clauses. As of December 31,
2019, we had non-cancelable operating lease obligations of approximately $66 million compared to $61 million at December 31,
2018. Rent expense under operating leases was $23 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, $21 million for the ye ar ended
December 31, 2018 and $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
The following summarizes our other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2019:
(In thousands)
Purchase obligations
Total commercial
commitments

Total
6,483
$

6,483 $

2020
6,483

2021

6,483 $

2022

2023

—

—

—

— $

— $

— $

2024
—
— $

Beyond
—
—

Purchase obligations primarily represent purchase commitments for customized inventory and inventory components. As of
December 31, 2019, we had non-cancelable purchase commitments with various suppliers of customized inventory and inventory
components totaling approximately $6.5 million over the next twelve months. At December 31, 2018, we had non -cancelable
purchase commitments with various suppliers of customized inventory and inventory components totaling approximat ely $7.6
million.
At December 31, 2019, we did not have any material outstanding guarantees for payment of customs and foreign grants. At
December 31, 2018, we had no outstanding guarantees for payment of customs and foreign grants.
Loan Agreement. As amended on April 27, 2018, our Loan Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank ("Loan Agreement ")
provides for (i) a revolving line of credit of $5.0 million, (ii) a letter of credit sublimit under the line of credit of $5.0 million, and
(iii) requires us and our subsidiaries to comply with certain of the affirmative and negative covenants under the Loan Agreement
only if loans are outstanding under the Loan Agreement or if we have not reimbursed any drawing under a letter of credit issued
under the Loan Agreement within five business days following the request of the lender. Proceeds of loans made under the Loan
Agreement may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes. We may prepay the loans u n der t h e Lo an
Agreement in whole or in part at any time without premium or penalty. Certain of our existing and future mat erial d o mes tic
subsidiaries are required to guaranty our obligations under the Loan Agreement. (See Note 15 – Debt of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional details on our revolving line of credit.)
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We do not have any off-balance sheet debt. At December 31, 2019, we did not have
any relationships with any unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance
entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements. As such, we are n o t
exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we were engaged in such relationships.
Prospective Capital Needs. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with
cash generated from operations as well as from the purchase of common stock through our employee stock purchase plan will be
sufficient to cover our working capital needs, capital expenditures, investment requirements, commitments, payment of dividends to
our stockholders and repurchases of our common stock for at least the next 12 months. We may also seek to pursue ad d itio nal
financing or to raise additional funds by seeking an increase in our unsecured revolving line of credit under our Loan Agreement or
selling equity or debt to the public or in private transactions from time to time. If we elect to raise additional funds, we may not be
able to obtain such funds on a timely basis or on acceptable terms, if at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing additional equity
or convertible debt securities, the ownership percentages of our existing stockholders would be reduced. In addition, the equity or
debt securities that we issue may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our common stock.
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Although we believe that we have sufficient capital to fund our operating activities for at least the next 12 months, our
future capital requirements may vary materially from those now planned. We anticipate that the amount of capital we will need
in the future will depend on many factors, including:
• repurchase of our common stock;
• payment of dividends to our stockholders;
• required levels of research and development and other operating costs;
• our business, product, capital expenditure and research and development plans, and product and technology
roadmaps;
• acquisitions of other businesses, assets, products or technologies;
• the overall levels of sales of our products and gross profit margins;
• the levels of inventory and accounts receivable that we maintain;
• general economic and political uncertainty and specific conditions in the markets we address, including any
volatility in the industrial economy in the various geographic regions in which we do business;
• the inability of certain of our customers who depend on credit to have access to their traditional sources of credit to
finance the purchase of products from us, which may lead them to reduce their level of purchases or to seek credit
or other accommodations from us;
• capital improvements for facilities;
• our relationships with suppliers and customers; and
• the level of stock purchases under our employee stock purchase plan.
On January 15, 2020, we closed on the sale of our wholly-owned subsidiary AWR Corporation to Cadence Design Systems
Inc. for a total of $160 million and we expect to recognize a gain on the divestment of approximately $123 million, net of taxes,
during the first quarter of 2020.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1 – Operations and summary of significant accounting policies of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
discussion regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosu res o f
contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasona ble
under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. Our critical accounting policies are those that affect
our financial statements materially and involve difficult, subjective or complex judgments by management. Although theseestimates
are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that may impact the company in the future, actual results
may be materially different from the estimates.
Our critical accounting policies and estimates are as follows:
•

Revenue recognition
Our contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer.
Determining whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations t h at s hould b e
accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgment.
Judgment is required to determine the stand-alone selling price (“SSP") for each distinct performance obligation.
We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of our products and services separately and need to
determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the variou s p rod ucts an d
services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service
separately, we determine the SSP using information that may include market conditions, h ist orical p ricin g
relationships (such as software licenses available under either a perpetual and term license period), and ot her
observable inputs. We typically have more than one SSP for individual pro du ct s an d s erv ices d u e t o t h e
stratification of those products and services by customers and circumstances. In these instances, we may u s e
information such as the geographic region in determining the SSP.
Due to the various benefits from and the nature of software licenses sold under en terpris e-wid e licen sin g
program, judgment is required to identify the distinct performance obligations, determine the SSP for cert ain
performance obligations that is not directly observable, and assess the pattern of delivery, including the exercise
pattern of certain benefits across our portfolio of customers.
Our products are generally sold with a right of return, and occasionally we may provide other credits or
incentives, which are accounted for as variable consideration when determining the amo u nt o f rev enue t o
recognize. Returns and credits are estimated at contract inception and updated at the end of each reporting period
if additional information becomes available. We analyze historical returns, current economic trends, and changes
in customer demand and acceptance of our products when evaluating the adequacy of our sales returns allowance.
Significant judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with establishing the sales returns
allowance in any accounting period. Changes to our estimated variable consideration were not material for the
periods presented.

•

Estimating allowances, specifically the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories
We also make estimates about the net realizable value of our inventory. We write down our inventory for estimated
obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net
realizable value based on assumptions of future demand and market conditions. Our allowance for exces s an d
obsolete inventories was $15.5 million and $15.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Significant
judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with establishing this allowance. Material
differences may result in the amount and timing of inventory obsolescence if we made different ju d g men ts o r
utilized different estimates or if actual results varied materially from our estimates.

•

Accounting for costs of computer software
We capitalize costs related to the development and acquisition of certain software products. Capitalization of costs
begins when technological feasibility has been established and ends when the product is available fo r g en eral
release to customers. Technological feasibility for our products is established when the product is available for beta
release. Judgment is required in determining when technological feasibility of a product is established. Amortization
is computed on an individual product basis for those products available for market and has been recognized based
on the product’s estimated economic life, generally three years. At each balance sheet date, the unamortized costs
are reviewed by management and reduced to net realized value when necessary. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
unamortized capitalized software development costs were $56 million and $75 million, respectively.
During the second quarter of 2018, we started applying agile development methodologies to cert ain s oft ware
development projects, which are characterized by a more dynamic development process with more frequent and
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iterative revisions to a product release's features and functions as the software is being developed. Due to theshorter
development cycle and focus on rapid production associated with agile development, we expect that for a significant
majority of our agile development projects the costs incurred subsequent to the achievement of t echn olo gical
feasibility will be immaterial in future periods and we expect to record significantly less capitalized s o ft ware
development costs than under our historical software development approaches. Prior capitalized costs will continue
to be amortized on the basis of each product's estimated useful life.
•

Valuation of long-lived and intangible assets
We assess the impairment of identifiable intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill whenever events o r
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We have one operating segment
and one reporting unit. In accordance with FASB ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (FASB ASC 350),
goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment
exist, using a fair-value-based approach based on the market capitalization of the reporting u nit . Ou r an n ual
impairment test was performed as of November 30, 2019. No impairment of goodwill and long -lived and intangible
assets was identified during 2019 and 2018. Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes in certain jurisdictions. Factors
considered important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:
• significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
• significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall
business;
• significant negative industry or economic trends; and
• our market capitalization relative to net book value.
When it is determined that the carrying value of intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill may n o t b e
recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, the measurement of any
impairment is determined and the carrying value is reduced as appropriate. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we
had goodwill of approximately $262 million and $265 million, respectively.

•

Accounting for income taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
reported amounts. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts
which are more likely than not to be realized. We had a valuation allowance of $86 million and $80
million at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. A majority of the valuation allowance is related
to the deferred tax assets of National Instruments Hungary Kft. (“NI Hungary”).
Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial
statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact
our financial position or our results of operations. In estimating future tax consequences, all expected futureevents
are considered other than enactments of changes in tax laws or rates. We account for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in our financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds and measurement at trib utes fo r
financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. Our contin uin g
policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
Our earnings in Hungary are subject to a statutory tax rate of 9%. In addition, our research an d d evelo pment
activities in Hungary continue to benefit from a tax law in Hungary that provides for an enhanced deduction for
qualified research and development expenses. The tax position of our Hungarian operations resulted in income tax
benefits of $9.8 million and $12.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Earnings
from our operations in Malaysia are free of tax under a tax holiday effective January 1, 2013. This tax h o lid ay
expires in 2037. If we fail to satisfy the conditions of the tax holiday, this tax benefit may be terminated early. The
tax holiday resulted in income tax benefits of $3.4 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respective1y. The impact of the tax holiday on a per share basis for each of the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018 was a benefit of $0.03 per share.
No other taxing jurisdictions had a significant impact on our effective tax rate. We have not en tered in t o an y
advanced pricing or other agreements with the Internal Revenue Service with regard to any foreign jurisdictions.
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For additional discussion about our income taxes including, components of income before in come t axes , o u r
provision for income taxes charged to operations, components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, a
reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory rate to our effective tax rate and other tax matters, see
Note 10 – Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
•

Loss contingencies
We accrue for probable losses from contingencies including legal defense costs, on an undiscounted basis, when
such costs are considered probable of being incurred and are reasonably estimable. We perio dically ev alu ate
available information, both internal and external, relative to such contingencies and adjust this accrual as necessary.
Disclosure of a contingency is required if there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has been incurred. In
determining whether a loss should be accrued we evaluate, among other factors, the degree of probability of an
unfavorable outcome and our ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. Changes in these factors
could materially impact our financial position or our results of operation.

•

Accounting for costs related to exit or disposal activities
Costs related to exit or disposal activities incurred as part of our recent restructuring activities may co nsis t o f
voluntary or involuntary severance-related charges, asset-related charges and other costs related to exit activities.
We recognize voluntary termination benefits when the employee accepts the offered benefit arran gement . We
recognize involuntary severance-related charges depending on whether the termination benefits are provided under
an ongoing benefit arrangement or under a one-time benefit arrangement. If the former, we recognize the charges
once they are probable and the amounts are estimable. If the latter, we recognize the charges once the benefits have
been communicated to employees.
Restructuring activities associated with assets would be recorded as an adjustment to the basis of the asset, not as a
liability. When we commit to a plan to abandon a long-lived asset before the end of its previously estimated useful
life, we accelerate the recognition of depreciation to reflect the use of the asset over its shortened useful life.
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ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Financial Risk Management
Our international sales are subject to inherent risks, including fluctuations in local economies; fluctuations in fo reig n
currencies relative to the U.S. dollar; difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; greater d ifficu lt y in acco unt s
receivable collection; costs and risks of localizing products for foreign countries; unexpected changes in regulatory require ments,
tariffs and other trade barriers; and burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws.
The vast majority of our sales outside of the U.S. are denominated in local currencies, and accordingly, the U.S. dollar
equivalent of these sales is affected by changes in the foreign currency exchange rates. The change in exchange rates had the effect
of decreasing our consolidated sales by $18.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2019 and increasing our consolidated sales by
$22.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. Because most of our international operating expenses are also incurred in local
currencies, the change in exchange rates had the effect of decreasing our consolidated operating expenses by $13 million in the year
ended December 31, 2019, and increasing our consolidated operating expenses by $8 million in the year ended December 31, 2018.
During 2019, there was a stronger U.S. dollar, approximately 4% stronger when compared to 2018 as measured by the
St.Louis Federal Reserve U.S. dollar index, resulting in a net unfavorable impact to net sales of approximately 1%. In the past, we
have noted that significant volatility in foreign currency exchange rates in the markets in which we do business has had a significant
impact on the revaluation of our foreign currency denominated firm commitments, on our ability to forecast o ur U.S. d o llar
equivalent revenues and expenses and on the effectiveness of our hedging programs. In recent periods, these dynamics have also
adversely affected our revenue growth in international markets and will likely pose similar challenges in the n ear fu t ure. We
recognize the local currency as the functional currency in virtually all of our international subsidiaries.
If the local currencies in which we sell our products strengthen against the U.S. dollar, we may need to lower our prices in
the local currency to remain competitive in our international markets which could have a material adverse effect on our gross and
net profit margins. If the local currencies in which we sell our products weaken against the U.S. dollar and if the local s ales prices
cannot be raised due to competitive pressures, we will experience a deterioration of our gross and net profit margins. To help protect
against the change in the value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates of forecasted foreign currency cash flows
resulting from international sales and expenses over the next one to two years, we have a foreign currency cash flo w h ed gin g
program. We hedge portions of our forecasted revenue, cost of sales and operating expenses denominated in foreign currencies with
foreign currency forward contracts. For forward contracts, when the dollar strengthens significantly against the foreign currencies,
the change in the present value of future foreign currency cash flows may be offset by the change in the fair value of the forward
contracts designated as hedges. We purchase foreign currency forward contracts for up to 100% of our forecasted exposures in
selected currencies (primarily in Euro, Japanese yen, Chinese yuan, British pound, Malaysian ringgit, Korean won and Hungarian
forint) and limit the duration of these contracts to 40 months or less. As a result, our hedging activities only partially ad dress our
risks from foreign currency transactions, and there can be no assurance that this strategy will be successful. We do not enter into
derivative contracts for speculative purposes.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, our hedges had the effect of increasing our consolidated sales by $11.7 million,
increasing our cost of sales by $0.5 million, and increasing our operating expenses by $0.4 million. During the year ended December
31, 2018, our hedges had the effect of decreasing our consolidated sales by $0.2 million, decreasing our cost o f s ales b y $0. 7
million, and decreasing our operating expenses by $0.9 million. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our cash flow hedging program and its related impacted on
our consolidated sales, cost of sales and operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018).
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Inventory Management
The markets for our products dictate that many of our products be shipped very quickly after an order is received. As a
result, we are required to maintain significant inventories. Therefore, inventory obsolescence is a risk for u s d u e t o freq u ent
engineering changes, shifting customer demand, the emergence of new industry standards and rapid technolo gical ad v ances
including the introduction by us or our competitors of products embodying new technology. However, our risk of obsolescence may
be mitigated as many of our products have interchangeable parts and many have long lives. While we adjust for excess and obsolete
inventories and we monitor the valuation of our inventories, there can be no assurance that our valuation adju stmen ts will b e
sufficient. In recent years, we have made a concentrated effort to increase our revenue through the pursuit of orders with a value
greater than $1.0 million. Fulfillment of these contracts can severely challenge our supply chain capabilities at the co mp onent
acquisition, assembly and delivery stages. These contracts can also require us to develop specific product mitigation p lans f o r
product delivery constraints caused by unexpected or catastrophic situations to help assure timely production recov ery and t o
comply with critical delivery commitments where severe contractual liabilities can be imposed on us if we fail to p ro v id e t h e
quantity of products at the required delivery times. In order to help mitigate the risks associated with these contractual requirements,
we may build inventory levels for certain parts or systems. Because our contracts with such customers may allow the customer to
cancel or delay orders without liability, such actions expose our business to increased risk of inventory obsolescence.
Market Risk
We are exposed to a variety of risks, including foreign currency fluctuations and changes in the market v alu e o f o u r
investments. In the normal course of business, we employ established policies and proced ures t o man ag e o u r exp o sure t o
fluctuations in foreign currency values and changes in the market value of our investments.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
At December 31, 2019, we had $433 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. See Liquidi ty a nd
Capital Resources above for further discussion regarding our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.
We report our available-for-sale short-term investments at fair value. (See Note 4 – Fair value measurements of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of the fair value measurement of our short -term investments).
The goal of our investment policy is to manage our investment portfolio to preserve p rin cip al an d liq u id it y wh ile
maximizing the return on our investment portfolio through the full investment of available funds. We place our cash investments in
instruments that meet credit quality standards, as specified in our corporate investment policy guidelines. These guidelines also limit
the amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer or type of instrument. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments carried
ratings from the major credit rating agencies that were in accordance with our corporate investment policy. Our investment policy
allows investments in the following: government and federal agency obligations, repurchase agreements, certificates of deposit and
time deposits, corporate obligations, medium term notes and deposit notes, commercial paper including asset-backed commercial
paper, puttable bonds, general obligation and revenue bonds, money market funds, taxable commercial paper, corporate notes/bonds,
municipal notes, municipal obligations and tax exempt commercial paper. All such instruments must carry minimum ratings o f
A1/P1/F1, MIG1/VMIG1/SP1 and A2/A/A, as applicable, all of which are considered “investment grade.” Our investment policy for
marketable securities requires that all securities mature in five years or less, with a weighted average maturity of no longer than 24
months with at least 10% maturing in 90 days or less.
We account for our investments in debt and equity instruments under FASB ASC 320 Investments – Debt and Eq ui ty
Securities (FASB ASC 320). Our investments are classified as available-for-sale and accordingly are reported at fair value, with
unrealized gains and losses reported as other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses are
charged against income when a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary. Investments with maturities beyond
one year are classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and because such marketable securities rep resent t h e
investment of cash that is available for current operations. The fair value of our short-term investments at December 31, 2019 and
2018 was $238 million and $271 million, respectively. This decrease was due to our net sale of $34 million of short -term
investments.
We follow the guidance provided by FASB ASC 320 to assess whether our investments with unrealized loss positions are
other than temporarily impaired. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary are determined
based on the specific identification method and are reported in other income (expense), net, in our Consolidated Statement s o f
Income.
Interest Expense Risk
We are exposed to interest rate fluctuations in the normal course of our business, including through our Loan Agreement. If
we borrow under our loan agreement, such borrowing would be subject to a variable interest rate.
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Interest Income Risk
Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may
have their market value adversely impacted due to an increase in interest rates, while floating rate securities may prod uce les s
income than expected if interest rates fall. Due to these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to
changes in interest rates or if the decline in the fair value of our publicly traded debt investments is judged t o b e o t her -t han temporary. We may suffer losses in principal if we are forced to sell securities that have declined in market value due to changes in
interest rates. However, because any debt securities we hold are classified as available-for-sale, no gains or losses are realized in our
income statement due to changes in interest rates unless such securities are sold prior to maturity or unless declin es in value are
determined to be other-than-temporary. These securities are reported at fair value with the related unrealized gains an d lo s ses
included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax.
In a declining interest rate environment, as short-term investments mature, reinvestment occurs at less favorable market
rates. Given the short-term nature of certain of our investments, the current interest rate environment of d eclin in g rat es may
unfavorably impact our investment income.
In order to assess the interest rate risk associated with our investment portfolio, we performed a sensitivity analysis t o
determine the impact a change in interest rates would have on the value of our investment portfolio a ssuming a 100 basis poin t
parallel shift in the yield curve. Based on our investment positions as of December 31, 2019, a 100 basis point increase or d ecrease
in interest rates across all maturities would have resulted in approximately a $2.3 million increase or decrease in the fair market
value of our portfolio. As of December 31, 2018, a similar 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates across all maturities
would result in approximately a $3.1 million increase or decrease in the fair market value of our portfolio. Such losses would only
be realized if we sold the investments prior to maturity or if there is an other-than-temporary impairment. Actual future gains and
losses associated with our investments may differ from the sensitivity analysis performed as of December 31, 2019, due t o t h e
inherent limitations associated with predicting the changes in the timing and level of interest rates and our actual exposure s and
positions.
We continue to monitor the stability of the financial markets, particularly those in the developing economies and have taken
steps to limit our direct and indirect exposure to these markets; however, we can give no assurance that we will not be negatively
impacted by any adverse outcomes in those markets. We also continue to weigh the benefit of the higher yields associated wit h
longer maturities against the interest rate risk and credit rating risk, also associated with these longer maturities when making these
decisions. We cannot predict when or to what degree interest rates and investment yields will change.
Exchange Rate Risk
Our objective in managing our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations is to reduce the impact of adverse
fluctuations in such exchange rates on our earnings and cash flow. Accordingly, we utilize purchased foreign currency option and
forward contracts to hedge our exposure on anticipated transactions and firm commitments. There can be no assurance that o ur
foreign currency hedging activities will substantially offset the impact of fluctuations in currency exchanges rates on our results of
operations and financial position. Based on the foreign exchange instruments outstanding at December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, an adverse change (defined as 20% in theAsian currencies and 10% in all other currencies) in exchange rates would result in a
decline in the aggregate settlement value of all of our instruments outstanding of approximately $28 million an d $23 millio n ,
respectively. However, as we utilize foreign currency instruments for hedging anticipated and firmly committed transactions, we
believe that a loss in settlement value for those instruments will be substantially offset by increases in the value of the u nderlying
exposure. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further
description of our derivative instruments and hedging activities).
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 hereof. Also see “Quarterly results of operations” in Item 7.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
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ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, our Chief Executive Officer,
Eric Starkloff, and our Chief Financial Officer, Karen Rapp, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act were effective as of December 31, 2019 to provide reasonable assurance
that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and (ii)
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our disclosure controls and procedures include components of
our internal control over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations Over Internal Controls
Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding th e reliab ilit y o f
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and directors; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our internal controls
will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can p rov ide o n ly
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Becauseof
the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of internal controls can provide absolute assurance that all con t ro l
issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Also, any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls in future pe riods are
subject to the risk that those internal controls may become inadequate because of changes in business conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). We conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on our assessment, we have concluded that our in t ern al
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Our independent reg ist ered p u blic
accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting, which appears in
Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2019,
which were identified in connection with our evaluation required by paragraph (d) of rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange
Act, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Report in that we intend to file a definitive proxy statement
pursuant to Regulation 14A with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Proxy Statement”) relating to our annual meeting
of stockholders not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Report, and such information is incorporated
by reference herein as described below.
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information concerning our directors required by this Item pursuant to Item 401 of Regulation S-K will appear in our
Proxy Statement under the section “Election of Directors” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information concerning our executive officers required by this Item pursuant to Item 401 of Regulatio n S -K will
appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Executive Officers” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.
The information concerning our code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer,
our controller or person performing similar functions required by this Item pursuant to Item 406 of Regulation S-K will appear in
our Proxy Statement under the section “Code of Ethics” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(c)(3) of Regulation S-K regarding material changes, if any, to
procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to our board of directors will appear in our Proxy Statement under
the section “Deadline for Receipt of Stockholder Proposals” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(d)(4) and Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K regarding our Audit
Committee and our audit committee financial expert(s), respectively, will appear in our Proxy Statemen t u nde r t h e h eadin g
“Corporate Governance” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K regarding director compensation will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section “Board Compensation” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K regarding executive officer compensation,
including our Compensation Discussion and Analysis, will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Executive
Compensation” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(e)(4) of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement
under the section “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and such information is incorporated herein by
reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(e)(5) will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section
“Compensation Committee Report” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12.
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 403 of Regulation S-K concerning security ownership of certain
beneficial owners and management will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Security Ownership” and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K concerning securities authorized fo r
issuance under equity compensation plans will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Equity Compensatio n Plan s
Information” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement under the
section “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K regarding the independence o f o u r
directors will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Corporate Governance” and such information is incorporated herein
by reference.
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ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information concerning principal accountant fees and services and pre-approval policies and procedures required by
this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement under the heading “Ratification of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” and “Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors,”
respectively.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents Filed with Report
1. Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-2
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8
F-9
F-10
F-11

2. Financial Statement Schedules.
All schedules are omitted because the required information is already included in our notes to our consolidated financial
statements or because they are not applicable.
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EXHIBITS
3.1(1)
3.2(2)
3.3(3)
4.1(4)
4.2
10.1(4)
10.2 (5)
10.3(6)
10.4(7)
10.5(8)
10.6(9)
10.7(10)
10.8(11)
10.9(12)
10.10(13)
10.11(14)
10.12(15)
10.13(16)
10.14(17)
10.15(18)
10.16(19)
10.17(20)
10.18(21)
10.19(22)
10.20 (23)
10.21(24)
10.22(25)
10.23(26)
10.24(27)
10.25(28)
10.27(29)
10.27(30)

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of the Company.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company
Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of
the Company.
Specimen of Common Stock certificate of the Company.
Description of Registered Securities
Form of Indemnification Agreement.
1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended.*
National Instruments Corporation Annual Incentive Program, as amended.*
2005 Incentive Plan.*
2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director).*
2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Current Employee).*
2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Newly Hired Employee).*
2010 Incentive Plan.*
2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director).*
2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Current Employee).*
2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Newly Hired Employee).*
2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
RSU Vesting Acceleration Agreement between the Company and Alexander M. Davern, effective as of
October 28, 2014.*
Loan Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2013, by and among National Instruments Corporation, the guarantors
from time to time party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender.
2015 Equity Incentive Plan.*
2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director).*
2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Current Employee).*
2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Newly Hired Employee).*
2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting – Threshold Performance
Goal).*
2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Employee-Time Based Vesting).*
Performance Cash Incentive Plan.*
First Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2015, by and among National Instruments
Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender
RSU Vesting Acceleration Agreement between the Company and Scott A. Rust, effective as of February 26,
2016.*
Offer Letter between the Company and Karen Rapp dated March 22, 2017.*

10.28(31)

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2018, by and among National Instruments
Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender.

10.29(32)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Time Based and Performance Based).*

10.30(33)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director - One-Year Vesting).*

10.31(34)

Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Property between the Company and Bridgepoint Parkway
Investors, LLC, dated June 25, 2019, and the Reinstatement and First Amendment to Agreement for Purchase
and Sale of Real Property between the Company and Bridgepoint Parkway Investors, LLC, dated July 11,
2019.
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10.32(35)

Executive Incentive Program*

10.33
10.34

Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Eric H. Starkloff dated October 28, 2019,
effective February 1, 2020, and amendment thereto made as of February 3, 2020.*†
Transition Agreement between the Company and Alexander M. Davern, dated October 28, 2019.*

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Form 10-K).

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

31.2
32.1
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

Incorporated by reference to the same-numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2013.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2019 (File No. 00025426).
Incorporated by reference to the same-numbered exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-A filed on April 27, 2004
(File No. 000-25426).
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33-88386) declared effective March 13,
1995.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 01, 2019.
Incorporated by reference to the same-numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2016.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 4, 2005 (File No.
000-25426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No.
000-25426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No.
000-25426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No.
000-25426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No.
000-25426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 17, 2010 (File No. 00025426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 00025426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 00025426).

51

Table of Contents

(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)
(27)
(28)
(29)
(30)
(31)
(32)
(33)
(34)
(35)
*
†

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 00025426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 00025426).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 25, 2014.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2014.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 13, 2013.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit B to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 1, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 16, 2016.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit C to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 1, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 30, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 2, 2016.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2017.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.30 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2018.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2019.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.32 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2019.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.33 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2019.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on January 30, 2020.
Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement
Certain confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b) of Regulation S-K
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Registrant
NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
BY: /s/ Eric Starkloff
Eric Starkloff
Chief Executive Officer

February 20, 2020

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Eric Starkloff and Karen Rapp, jointly and severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her
in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of
said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Capacity in Which Signed

Date

Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 20, 2020

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

February 20, 2020

Chairman of the Board

February 20, 2020

/s/ Jim Cashman III
Jim Cashman III

Director

February 20, 2020

/s/ Alex M. Davern

Director

February 20, 2020

/s/ Gerhard Fettweis
Dr. Gerhard P. Fettweis

Director

February 20, 2020

/s/ Liam Griffin

Director

February 20, 2020

Director

February 20, 2020

Director

February 20, 2020

Director

February 20, 2020

Signature
/s/ Eric Starkloff
Eric Starkloff

/s/ Karen Rapp
Karen Rapp
/s/ Michael E. McGrath
Michael E. McGrath

Alex M. Davern

Liam Griffin
/s/ Jeffrey L. Kodosky
Jeffrey L. Kodosky
/s/ Duy-Loan T. Le
Duy-Loan T. Le
/s/ Charles J. Roesslein
Charles J. Roesslein
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of National Instruments Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National Instruments Corporation (theCompany) as of December
31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “fin ancial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Un it ed St ates)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) and our report dated February 20, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Adoption of ASU 2014-09 and ASU 2016-02
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of account in g fo r rev en ue
recognition in 2018 due to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The Company
changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of A SU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and arerequired to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable ru les an d
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the account in g
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of t h e fin an cial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

F-2

Table of Contents
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material
to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are
not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts
or disclosures to which they relate.

Description of
the Matter

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Determining the Adjustment for Excess and Obsolete Inventories
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, inventory is presented net of the adjustment for excess and
obsolete inventories which is the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net realizable value
based on assumptions of future demand and market conditions. As of December 31, 2019, the Company ’s
net inventory balance was $200.4 million, net of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories of $15.5
million.
Auditing management’s estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories was complex and
judgmental due to the high degree of subjectivity of certain assumptions and inputs. In p articular, the
estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories was sensitive to significant assumptions such
as the customer forecasted demand of each inventory part and the adjustment percentage for those parts. The
adjustment percentage by part is estimated through historical and forecasted usage and scrap rates. These
assumptions, among other observable inputs, are utilized to calculate the estimate of the adjustment for excess
and obsolete inventories.
We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over
the Company’s process used in determining the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories. This included
controls over the Company’s calculation and review of the significant assumptions underlying the estimate of
the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories including the customer forecasted demand and the
adjustment percentage.
To test the estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories, we performed audit procedures that
included, among others, evaluating the methodology utilized to calculate the adjustment, evaluating the
significant assumptions stated above and testing the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data used in
management’s calculation of the estimate. We tested management’s assumptions relating to forecasted
product demand, which included inspecting a one-year look-back analysis on forecasted demand compared to
actual usage as well as conducting inquiries with, and obtaining forecast support from, individuals outside of
the accounting department who are involved in manufacturing and part-level planning.
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Description of
the Matter

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Determining Reserve for Uncertain Tax Positions
As discussed in Note 10 to the financial statements, the Company operates in a complex multinational
tax environment and is subject to international tax law and transfer pricing guidelines for intercompany
transactions. Uncertainty in a tax position may arise as tax laws are subject to interpretation. The
Company uses significant judgment in (1) determining whether a tax position’s technical merits are
more-likely-than-not to be sustained and (2) measuring the amount of tax benefit that qualifies for
recognition. As of December 31, 2019, the Company accrued liabilities of $6.7 million with respect to
uncertain tax positions including transfer pricing.
Auditing the recognition and measurement of tax positions related to transfer pricing was especially
challenging due to first establishing the technical merits of the income tax position for purposes of
recognition and second due to the measurement of the tax position. The key assumptions used in
determining the reserve for the uncertain tax positions related to transfer pricing are how the taxing
authority would classify the relevant related parties and the royalty rates and operating margins by
jurisdiction that are utilized in transfer pricing as well as the probabilities applied to the scenarios
utilized to calculate the amount of benefit to recognize.
We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Company’s accounting process to assess the technical merits of tax positions related to transfer
pricing including evaluating certain intercompany transactions and to measure the potential exposure to
reserve for those tax positions. This included controls over the completeness of the tax positions
evaluated for recognition and measurement and the probabilities applied to each scenario.
To test the reserve for uncertain tax positions related to transfer pricing, our audit procedures included,
among others, involving our tax and transfer price professionals to assist us in assessing the technical
merits and measurement of certain of the Company’s tax positions. This included assessing the
Company’s correspondence with the relevant tax authorities and evaluating income tax opinions and
other third-party advice obtained by the Company. To support our evaluation, we used our knowledge of
and experience with the application of international, transfer pricing and local income tax laws by the
relevant income tax authorities to evaluate the Company’s accounting for those uncertain tax positions.
We analyzed the Company’s assumptions and data used to determine the amount of tax position to
recognize and tested the accuracy of the calculations. We have also evaluated the Company’s income
tax disclosures included in Note 10 of the financial statements in relation to these matters.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2005.
Austin, Texas
February 20, 2020
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of National Instruments Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited National Instruments Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theTreadway
Commission 2013 framework (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, National Instruments Corporation (the Company) maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accoun ting Oversight Board (Un it ed St ates)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements
of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2019, and the related notes and our report dated February 20, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accomp an yin g M anag emen t Rep o rt o n t h e
Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an o pinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable ru les an d
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all mat erial
respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing t h e ris k t h at a mat eria l
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides areasonable
basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accept ed
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of theassets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparat io n o f fin an cial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of thecompany arebeing
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or det ect mis s tatement s. Als o,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
February 20, 2020
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NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)


December 31,
2019

December 31,
2018

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

194,616 $
237,983
248,872
200,410
65,477
947,358
243,717
262,242
84,083
70,407
44,082

$

1,651,889 $

$

52,192 $
47,732
131,445
13,431
40,607
20,716

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets

259,386
271,396
242,955
194,146
54,337
1,022,220
245,201
264,530
110,783
—
28,501
1,671,235

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation
Deferred revenue - current
Other lease liabilities - current
Other taxes payable
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Income tax payable - non-current
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Deferred revenue - non-current
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock: par value $0.01; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and
outstanding
Common stock: par value $0.01; 360,000,000 shares authorized; 130,504,535 and
132,655,941 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

306,123
14,065
69,151
6,652
33,480
40,650
5,418
475,539

48,388
45,821
127,288
—
35,574
25,913
282,984
25,457
74,546
9,775
32,636
—
7,479
432,877

—

—

1,305
953,578
242,537
(21,070)
1,176,350
1,651,889 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
F-6

1,327
897,544
356,418
(16,931)
1,238,358
1,671,235

Table of Contents

NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share data)


For the years ended December 31,
2019
Net sales:
Product
Software maintenance

2018

2017

$ 1,215,014 $ 1,220,027 $ 1,173,476
138,201
139,105
115,910
1,353,215
1,359,132
1,289,386

Total net sales
Cost of sales:
Product
Software maintenance
Total cost of sales
Gross profit

329,364
7,527
336,891

325,208
8,519
333,727

318,863
9,461
328,324

1,016,324

1,025,405

961,062

473,392
272,452
122,768
(26,842)
841,770

482,576
261,072
108,878
—
852,526

477,921
231,761
105,602
—
815,284

174,554

172,879

145,778

8,129
(1,846)
(293)
180,544
18,393

5,896
(3,423)
1,101
176,453
21,396

2,276
892
(1,566)
147,380
94,969

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Gain on sale of assets
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain
Other (expense) income, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

$

162,151 $

155,057 $

52,411

Basic earnings per share

$

1.23 $

1.17 $

0.40

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic

131,722

Diluted earnings per share

$

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted

1.22 $
132,734

Dividends declared per share

$

1.00 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)


For the years ended December 31,
2019
Net income

162,151 $

155,057 $

52,411

$

(3,346)
1,141
(2,629)
(4,834)
(695)
(4,139)
158,012 $

(9,768)
(378)
12,525
2,379
2,801
(422)
154,635 $

24,470
(120)
(9,488)
14,862
(3,250)
18,112
70,523

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2017

$

Other comprehensive income, before tax and net of reclassification adjustments:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available-for-sale
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivative instruments
Other comprehensive income, before tax
Tax (benefit) provision related to items of other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
Comprehensive income

2018
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NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
For the years ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income
$
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Disposal gain on sale of assets
Tax benefit from deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of effects of acquisitions):
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Taxes, accrued compensation, and other current liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

162,151 $

155,057 $

52,411

73,541
51,438
(26,842)
(12,680)

70,667
37,616
—
(11,738)

72,695
29,145
—
(5,774)

(7,193)
(6,773)
(7,926)
4,034
5,579
(10,924)
224,405

8,446
(10,642)
12,628
(3,976)
19,061
(2,539)
274,580

(15,269)
10,154
1,971
1,584
1,791
75,734
224,442

Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of assets
Capitalization of internally developed software
Additions to other intangibles
Acquisitions of equity-method investments
Acquisitions, net of cash received
Purchases of short-term investments
Sales and maturities of short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities

(60,857)
32,492
(9,065)
(1,209)
(13,670)
—
(185,267)
219,628
(17,948)

(34,659)
—
(14,208)
(5,399)
—
(5,534)
(313,726)
163,530
(209,996)

(30,256)
—
(41,662)
(2,384)
—
—
(87,735)
39,627
(122,410)

Cash flow from financing activities:
Principal payments on revolving line of credit
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repurchase of common stock
Dividends paid
Other
Net cash used in financing activities

—
33,191
(171,316)
(131,855)
(837)
(270,817)

—
31,601
—
(121,537)
(907)
(90,843)

(25,000)
29,094
—
(109,551)
(842)
(106,299)

(410)

(4,519)

9,148

$

(64,770)
259,386
194,616 $

(30,778)
290,164
259,386 $

4,881
285,283
290,164

$
$

— $
46,096 $

78 $
32,786 $

478
38,033

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

F-9

Table of Contents
NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)


Common
Stock
Shares
Balance at December 31,
2016
Net income
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax
Issuance of common stock
under employee plans,
including tax benefits
Stock-based compensation
Adoption of ASU 2016-16
Dividends paid
Balance at December 31,
2017
Net income
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax
Issuance of common stock
under employee plans,
including tax benefits
Stock-based compensation
Adoption of ASU 2014-09
Dividends paid
Balance at December 31,
2018
Net income
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax
Issuance of common stock
under employee plans,
including tax benefits
Stock-based compensation

Commo
n Stock
Amount

Additiona
l Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensi
ve
Income/(Loss)

1,292
—

771,346
—

376,202
52,411

(34,621)
—

1,114,219
52,411

—

—

18,112

18,112

—
—
—
—

29,094
29,557
(5,821)
(109,551)

129,202,979
—
—

Total
Stockholder
s' Equity

1,775,968
—
—
—

18
—
—
—

29,076
29,557
—
—

—
—
(5,821)
(109,551)

130,978,947
—

1,310
—

829,979
—

313,241
155,057

(16,509)
—

1,128,021
155,057

—

—

(422)

(422)

—
1,676,994
—
—
—
132,655,941 $
—

17
—
—
—

—

30,694
36,888
9,657
(121,537)

1,327 $ 897,544 $ 356,418 $
—
—
162,151

(16,931) $
—

1,238,358
162,151

—

—

(4,139)

18
—

32,336
50,797

—
—

(40)
—

(27,099)
—

—
1,848,594
—

Repurchase of common stock
(4,000,000)
Dividends paid
—
Balance at December 31,
2019
130,504,535 $

30,677
36,888
—
—

—
—
9,657
(121,537)

—
—

—
—

32,354
50,797

—
—

(171,316)
(131,855)

(21,070) $

1,176,350

(144,177)
(131,855)

1,305 $ 953,578 $ 242,537 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – Operations and summary of significant accounting policies
National Instruments Corporation (the "Company," "NI," "we," "us" or "our") is a Delaware corporation. We p rov ide
flexible application software and modular, multifunction hardware that users combine with industry-standard computers, networks
and third-party devices to create automated test and automated measurement systems. Our software-centric approach helps o u r
customers quickly and cost-effectively design, prototype and deploy custom-defined solutions for their design, control and t est
application needs. We offer hundreds of products used to create virtual instrumentation systems for general, commercial, indu strial
and scientific applications. Our products may be used in different environments, and consequently, specific applicatio n o f o u r
products is determined by the customer and often is not known to us.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Principles of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of National Instruments Corporation and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Use of estimates
The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable
under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. Our critical accounting policies are those that affect
our financial statements materially and involve difficult, subjective or complex judgments by management. Although theseestimates
are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that may impact the company in the future, actual results
may be materially different from the estimates.
Gain on Sale of Assets
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, we recognized a gain of $26.8 million from the sale of our 136,000
square foot office building and property located at 6504 Bridgepoint Parkway, Austin, Texas. At the time of sale, we did not occupy
the building and had been leasing the building to third parties for several years. The disposal gain is presented as "Gain on sale of
assets" in the Consolidated Statements of Income, in accordance with ASC 360 - Property, Plant and Equipment.
Assets held-for-sale
On December 2, 2019, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Cadence Design Systems, Inc. ("Cadence") for
Cadence to acquire AWR Corporation, our wholly owned subsidiary (the "Transaction"). The transaction closed on January 15,
2020. The purchase price for the Transaction was approximately $160 million in cash and we expect to recognize a gain on t h e
divestment of approximately $123 million, net of taxes, during the first quarter of 2020. Approximately 110 AWR employees joined
Cadence, effective as of the date of closing.
AWR provides software products used by microwave and RF engineers to design wireless products for complex, high frequency RF applications. The technology helps customers accelerate the design and product development cycle of systems used in
communications, aerospace and defense, semiconductor, computer, and consumer electronics, by helping reduce the time it takes to
go from concept to manufacturing.
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Assets held-for-sale as of December 31, 2019 were included within the following line items on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

(In thousands)
Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaids and other current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other long-term assets
Total Assets

$

$

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued compensation
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Total Liabilities
Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale

$

$

6,015
9,544
291
268
7,593
141
461
119
24,432

1,030
1,474
17,851
503
290
21,148
3,284

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of the promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. We enter into contracts that can include various
combinations of our products or services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance
obligations. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for returns and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently
remitted to governmental authorities.
Impact of adopting Topic 606
On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective transition met h od. Un d er t h e
modified retrospective transition approach, periods prior to the adoption date were not adjusted and continue to be rep ort ed in
accordance with historical GAAP. A cumulative catch-up adjustment was recorded to beginning retained earnings to reflect the
impact of all existing arrangements under the new revenue standard. The impact of adopting the new revenue standard for the year
ended December 31, 2018 is further discussed under "Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements".
Nature of Goods and Services
We derive revenues from two primary sources: products and software maintenance.
Product revenues are primarily generated from the sale of off-the-shelf modular test and measurement hardware
components and related drivers, and application software licenses. Sales of most hardware components may also include
optional extended hardware warranties, which typically provide additional service-type coverage for three years from the
purchase date. Our software licenses typically provide for a perpetual right to use our software. We also offer some term-based
software licenses that expire, which are referred to as subscription arrangements. We do not customize software for customers
and installation services are not required. The software is delivered before related services are provided and is functional
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without professional services, updates and technical support. We sell our customer support contracts as a percentage of net
software purchases to which the support is related. Revenues from offerings related to our hardware and software products such
as extended hardware warranties, training, consulting and installation services are not significant and are presented within
product revenues, as further discussed below.
Software maintenance revenues consists of post-contract customer support that provides the customer with unspecified
upgrades and technical support. For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately if they are
distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis.
Standalone selling prices of software licenses are estimated based on our established pricing practices and maximize the use of
observable inputs. Standalone selling prices of hardware products are typically estimated based on observable transactions
when these services are sold on a standalone basis. Our typical performance obligations include the following:
Performance Obligation

When performance
obligation is typically
satisfied

When payment is typically
due

How standalone selling
price is typically
estimated

Product revenue
Modular hardware

Software licenses

Observable in
transactions without
multiple performance
obligations
Perpetual/Subscription
licenses: Value
relationships based on
(i) the directly
observable pricing of
the license bundled
When software media is
with software
delivered to customer or
maintenance and (ii) the
made available for
Within 30-90 days of the
observable
download electronically, and beginning of license period directly
pricing
of
software
the applicable license period
maintenance renewals,
has begun (point-in-time)
when they are sold on a
standalone basis.
When customer obtains
control of the product
(point-in-time)

Within 30-90 days of
shipment

Enterprise-wide term
licenses: Residual
method
Extended hardware warranty

Ratably over the course of
the support contract (over
time)

Within 30-90 days of the
beginning of the contract
period

Other related support offerings

As work is performed (over
time) or course is delivered Within 30-90 days of
delivery
(point-in-time)

Observable in
transactions without
multiple performance
obligations

Ratably over the course of
the support contract (over
time)

Observable in renewal
transactions

Observable in renewal
transactions

Software maintenance revenue
Software maintenance

Within 30-90 days of the
beginning of the contract
period

Significant Judgments
Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling price ("SSP") for each distinct performance obligation. We use a
single amount to estimate SSP for items that are not sold separately, including perpetual and term licenses sold wit h s oft war e
maintenance. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to
determine whether there is a discount that needs to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and servic es.
Due to the various benefits from and the nature of our enterprise agreement program, judgment is required to assess the
pattern of delivery, including the exercise pattern of certain benefits across our portfolio of customers. Additionally, wh et h er a
renewal option represents a distinct performance obligation could significantly impact the timing of revenue recognized.
Our products are generally sold with a right of return which is accounted for as variable consideration when estimating the
amount of revenue to recognize. Returns and credits are estimated at contract inception and updated at the end of each reporting
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period as additional information becomes available and only to the extent that it is probable that a significant rev ersal o f an y
incremental revenue will not occur. During the first quarter of 2018, we began to reclassify our allowance for sales returns to
"other current liabilities" from "accounts receivable, net" due to the adoption of ASU 2014-09. Changes to our estimated variable
consideration were not material for the periods presented.
Contract Balances
Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment from customers. We record a receiv able wh en
revenue is recognized prior to invoicing, or deferred revenue when revenue is recognized subsequent to invoicing. Based on the
nature of our contracts with customers, we do not typically recognize unbilled receivables related to revenues recognized in excess
of amounts billed. For the year ended December 31, 2019, amounts recognized related to unbilled receivables were not material.
In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we havedetermined our contracts
generally do not include a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to provide customers with
efficient and predictable ways of purchasing our products and services, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide
customers with financing. Examples include invoicing at the beginning of a maintenance service term with revenue recognized
ratably over the contract period.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $3.5 million at each of December 31, 2019and
2018. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is based on historical experience. We analyze historical bad debts, customer
concentrations, customer creditworthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful
accounts.
(In thousands)
Year

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Description
2017

Allowance for doubtful accounts

2018

Allowance for doubtful accounts

2019

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Provisions

Write-Offs

Balance at
End of
Period

$

1,867 $

1,383

358 $

2,892

$

2,892 $

1,135

537 $

3,490

$

3,490 $

396

343 $

3,543

Contract Liabilities
We recognize contract liabilities, presented in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as "Deferred revenue" when we have an
obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which we have received consideration (or an amount of consideratio n
is due) from the customer. Refer to Note 2 - Revenue of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information,
including changes in our contract liability during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Refund Liability
A refund liability for estimated sales returns is made by reducing recorded revenue based on historical experience. We
analyze historical returns, current economic trends and changes in customer demand of our products when evaluating theadequacy
of our sales returns refund liability. Our sales return refund liability was $2.6 million and $2.3 million at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. As further discussed in Note 2 - Revenue, we adopted the new revenue standard on January 1, 2018 using the
modified retrospective method. Under the modified retrospective method of adoption, we did not adjust our comparative periods to
reflect the adoption of the new revenue standard. In accordance with the new revenue standard, our sales return refund liability as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was presented in "Other Current Liabilities" on our balance sheet.
Assets Recognized from the Costs to Obtain a Contract with a Customer
We recognize an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if we expect the benefit of those
costs to be longer than one year. We have determined that certain sales incentive programs meet the requirements to be capitalized.
Capitalized incremental costs related to initial contracts and renewals are amortized over the same period because the commissions
paid on both the initial contract and renewals are commensurate with one another. Total capitalized costs to obtain a contract were
not material during the periods presented and are included in other long -term assets on our consolidated balance sheets. The net
effect of capitalization and amortization of these costs was not material to our results of operating during the periods presented.
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Shipping and handling costs
Our shipping and handling costs charged to customers are included in net sales, and the associated expense is recorded in
cost of sales.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the dateof
acquisition.
Investments
We value our available-for-sale debt instruments based on pricing from third-party pricing vendors, who may use quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs) or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or
indirectly (Level 2 inputs) in determining fair value. We classify all of our fixed income available-for-sale securities as having Level
2 inputs. The valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of our financial instruments having Level 2 inputs were derived
from non-binding market consensus prices that are corroborated by observable market data, quoted market p rices fo r s imilar
instruments, or pricing models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. We believe all of these sources reflect the cred it r is k
associated with each of our available-for-sale debt investments. Short-term investments consist of available-for-sale debt securities
issued by states of the U.S. and political subdivisions of the U.S., corporate debt securities and debt securities is sued b y U.S.
government organizations and agencies. All short-term investments have contractual maturities of less than 60 months.
Our investments in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and accordingly are reported at fair v alu e, wit h
unrealized gains and losses reported as other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses are
charged against income when a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary. Investments with maturities beyond
one year are classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and because such marketable securities rep resent t h e
investment of cash that is available for current operations.
The fair value of our short-term investments in debt securities at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $238
million and $271 million, respectively. The decrease was due to the net sale of $34 million of short-term investments. We had $5
million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds that were denominated in Euro at December 31, 2019.
We follow the guidance provided by FASB ASC 320 to assess whether our investments with unrealized loss positions are
other than temporarily impaired. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary are determined
based on the specific identification method and are reported in other income (expense), net , in our Consolidated Statement s o f
Income. In addition, we from time to time make equity investments in non-publicly traded companies. Equity investments in which
we do not have control but have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, are accounted for
using the equity method. Our proportionate share of income or loss is recorded in "Other income (expense), net "in theConsolidated
Statement of Income. All other non-marketable equity investments do not have readily determinable fair values and are recorded at
cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from qualifying observable price changes. We periodically review
our non-marketable equity investments for other-than-temporary declines in fair value and write-down specific investments to their
fair values when we determine that an other-than-temporary decline has occurred. Our non-marketable equity investments werenot
material at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
We did not identify or record any other-than-temporary impairments on our investment securities during 2019, 2018, and
2017.
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Inventories, net
Inventories are stated at the lower-of-cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined u sin g s tandard cost s, wh ich
approximate the first-in first-out (“FIFO”) method. Cost includes the acquisition cost of purchased co mpo nents, p art s an d
subassemblies, in-bound freight costs, labor and overhead.
Inventory is shown net of adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories of $15.5 million, $15.4 million and $16.4 million
at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(In thousands)
Year
2017
2018
2019

Description
Adjustment for excess and obsolete
inventories
Adjustment for excess and obsolete
inventories
Adjustment for excess and obsolete
inventories

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Provisions

Write-Offs

Balance at
End of
Period

$

12,639 $

7,130

3,322 $

16,447

$

16,447 $

7,870

8,932 $

15,385

$

15,385 $

6,046

5,942 $

15,489

Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, which range from twenty to forty years for buildings, and three to seven years for purchased internal use
software and for equipment which are each included in furniture and equipment.
Intangible assets, net
We capitalize costs related to the development and acquisition of certain software products. Capitalization of costs begins
when technological feasibility has been established and ends when the product is available for general relea s e t o cu stomers .
Technological feasibility for our products is established when the product is available for beta release. Amortization is computed on
an individual product basis for those products available for market and is recognized based on the product’s estimated economic life,
generally three to six years.
We use the services of outside counsel to search for, document, and apply for patents. Those costs, along with any filing or
application fees, are capitalized. Costs related to patents which are abandoned are written off. Once a patent is granted, the patent
costs are amortized ratably over the legal life of the patent, generally ten to seventeen years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the asset.
At each balance sheet date, the unamortized costs for all intangible assets are reviewed by management and reduced to net
realizable value when necessary.
Goodwill
The excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. We hav e o n e o p erat ing
segment and one reporting unit. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, in the fourth quarter of each y ear, an d
between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach based on the market capitalization
of the reporting unit. No impairment of goodwill was identified during our annual testing of goodwill performed as of November 30,
2019 and 2018. Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes in certain jurisdictions.
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Concentrations of credit risk
At December 31, 2019, we had $433 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Our cash and cash
equivalent balances are held in numerous financial institutions throughout the world, including substantial amounts held outsideof
the U.S., however, the majority of our short-term investments that are located outside of the U.S. are denominated in the U.S. dollar
with the exception of $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds that are denominated in Euro. The most significant of our
operating accounts was our Malaysian Citibank operating account which held approximately $13 million or 7%of our total cash and
cash equivalents at a bank that carried Baa1/BBB+/A ratings at December 31, 2019.
The following table presents the geographic distribution of our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments as of
December 31, 2019 (in millions):
Domestic
$55.9
29%
$164.3
69%
$220.2
51%

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short-term Investments
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

International
$138.7
71%
$73.7
31%
$212.4
49%

Total
$194.6
$238.0
$432.6

The goal of our investment policy is to manage our investment portfolio to preserve p rin cip al an d liq u id it y wh ile
maximizing the return on our investment portfolio through the full investment of available funds. We place our cash investments in
instruments that meet credit quality standards, as specified in our corporate investment policy guidelines. These guidelines also limit
the amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer or type of instrument. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments carried
ratings from the major credit rating agencies that were in accordance with our corporate investment policy. Our investment policy
allows investments in the following: government and federal agency obligations, repurchase agreements (“Repos”), certificates of
deposit and time deposits, corporate obligations, medium term notes and deposit notes, commercial paper including asset-backed
commercial paper (“ABCP”), puttable bonds, general obligation and revenue bonds, money market funds, taxable commercial
paper, corporate notes/bonds, municipal notes, municipal obligations and tax exempt commercial paper. All such instruments must
carry minimum ratings of A1/P1/F1, MIG1/VMIG1/SP1 and A2/A/A, as applicable, all of which are considered “investment grade”.
Our investment policy for marketable securities requires that all securities mature in five years or less, with a weighted average
maturity of no longer than 24 months with at least 10% maturing in 90 days or less. (See Note 3 – Short-term investments of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion and analysis of our investments).
Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable is limited due to our large number of customers and
their dispersion across many countries and industries. No single customer accounted for more than 3% of our sales for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. The largest trade account receivable from any individual customer at
December 31, 2019 was approximately $4.6 million.
Key supplier risk
Our manufacturing processes use large volumes of high-quality components and subassemblies supplied b y o ut sid e
sources. Several of these items are available through sole or limited sources. Supply shortages or quality problems in connection
with these key items could require us to procure items from replacement suppliers, which would cause s ig nifican t d elays in
fulfillment of orders and likely result in additional costs. In order to manage this risk, we maintain safety stock of some of these
single sourced components and subassemblies and perform regular assessments of a suppliers' performance, grading key suppliers in
critical areas such as quality and “on-time” delivery.
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Warranty reserve
We offer a one-year limited warranty on most hardware products which is included in the terms of sale of such products.
We also offer optional extended warranties on our hardware products for which the related revenue is recognized ratably over the
warranty period. Provision is made for estimated future warranty costs at the time of the sale for the estimated costs that may be
incurred under the limited warranty. Our estimate is based on historical experience and product sales during the period.
The warranty reserve for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was as follows:
(In thousands)
2019
Balance at the beginning of the year
Accruals for warranties issued during the year
Accruals related to pre-existing warranties
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during the year
Balance at the end of the year

$

2018
3,173 $
2,356
(376)
(2,592)
2,561 $

$

2017
2,846 $
3,026
389
(3,088)
3,173 $

2,686
2,644
274
(2,758)
2,846

Loss contingencies
We accrue for probable losses from contingencies including legal defense costs, on an undiscounted basis, when such costs
are considered probable of being incurred and are reasonably estimable. We periodically evaluate available informat io n, b o th
internal and external, relative to such contingencies and adjust this accrual as necessary.
Advertising expense
We expense costs of advertising as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
was $7 million, $8 million, and $11 million, respectively.
Foreign currency translation
The functional currency for our international sales operations is the applicable local currency. The assets and liabilities of
these operations are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date and sales and expenses are translated at
average rates. The resulting gains or losses from translation are included in a separate component of other comprehensive income.
Gains and losses resulting from re-measuring monetary asset and liability accounts that are denominated in a currency other than a
subsidiary’s functional currency are included in net foreign exchange gain (loss) and are included in net income.
Foreign currency hedging instruments
All of our derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. We currently use foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge our exposure to material foreign currency denominated receivables and forecasted foreign currency cash
flows.
On the date the derivative contract is entered into, we designate the derivative as a hedge of the variability of fo reig n
currency cash flows to be received or paid (“cash flow” hedge) or as a hedge of our foreign denominated net receivable positions
(“other derivatives”). Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges an d t h at are
deemed to be highly effective are recorded in other comprehensive income. These amounts are subsequently re classified in t o
earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is realized. The gain or loss on the other derivatives as well as t h e
offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in current earnings under the line item “Net
foreign exchange gain (loss)”. We do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.
We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk-management
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions at the inception of the hedge. This process includes linking all
derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges to specific forecasted transactions. We also formally assess, both at the hedge’s
inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flo ws o f
hedged items.
We prospectively discontinue hedge accounting if (1) it is determined that the derivative is no longer highly effective in
offsetting changes in the fair value of a hedged item (forecasted transactions); or (2) the derivative is de-designated as a h ed ge
instrument, because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur. When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivativeis
sold, and the resulting gains and losses are recognized immediately in earnings.
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Income taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts. We
account for GILTI in deferred taxes. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts
which are more likely than not to be realized. Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax conseq uen ces co ul d
materially impact our financial position or our results of operations. In estimating future tax consequences, all expected fu t ure
events are considered other than enactments of changes in tax laws or rates. We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized
in our financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosureof
tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax
matters in income tax expense.
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during each period. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the we ighted average number of co mmo n
shares and common share equivalents outstanding (if dilutive) during each period. The number of common share equivalents, which
include stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”), is computed using the treasury stock method.
The reconciliation of the denominators used to calculate basic EPS and diluted EPS for years ended December 31, 2019,
2018, and 2017 are as follows:

(In thousands)
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic
Plus: Common share equivalents
RSUs
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted

Years ended December 31,
2019
2018
131,722
131,987
1,012
132,734

1,287
133,274

2017
130,300
1,087
131,387

Stock awards to acquire 94,206 shares, 11,352 shares, and 32,400 shares for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and
2017, respectively, were excluded in the computations of diluted EPS because the effect of including the stock awards would have
been anti-dilutive.
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation costs are based on the fair value on the date of grant for all restricted stock units ("RSUs")
and on the date of enrollment for the employee stock purchase plan. We recognize compensation expense ratably over the
requisite service period of the awards. PRSUs are RSU awards that vest based on a market condition. The market condition
currently used is our stockholder return relative to the total stockholder return of the companies included in the Russell 2000
Index at the end of the three-year performance period.
The fair values of RSUs, with service-based vesting conditions, are estimated using their market price on the dateof grant.
The fair values of rights under employee stock purchase plans are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair
values of PRSUs are estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation. The determination of fair value of the PRSUs is affected by our
stock price and a number of assumptions including the expected volatility, expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate.
Our expected volatility at the date of grant was based on the historical volatilities of our stock an d the companies included in the
Russell 2000 Index over the performance period. Refer to Note 12 – Authorized shares of common and preferred stock and stockbased compensation plans for additional information on our equity-based compensation programs.
Comprehensive income
Our comprehensive income is comprised of net income, foreign currency translation and unrealized gains and losses on
forward contracts and securities available-for-sale. Comprehensive income in 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $158 million, $155 million
and $71 million, respectively.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Leases

In 2016, the FASB established Topic 842, Leases, by issuing new lease accounting guidance which supersedes ASC 840,
Leases, and requires lessees to recognize leases on-balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. Topic
842, as amended (the "new lease standard"), establishes a right-of-use ("ROU") model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU
asset and lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as financeor
operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the income statement.
We adopted the new lease standard on January 1, 2019 and used the effective date as o u r d ate o f in it ial ad o p tio n.
Consequently, financial information will not be updated, and the disclosures required under the new lease standard will n o t b e
provided for earlier periods.
We have completed a qualitative and quantitative assessment of our lease portfolio, in which the new lease standard had a
material impact on our consolidated balance sheet but did not have an impact on our consolidated income statement. Upon adoption,
we recognized lease liabilities of approximately $52 million, with corresponding ROU assets of the same amount, based on th e
present value of the remaining minimum rental payments under current leasing standards for our existing operating leases. We
reclassified approximately $19 million from "Property, plant and equipment, net" to "Operating lease right-of-use assets" related to
prepaid leasehold land.
The new lease standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. We elected the " packag e o f
practical expedients", which permits us not to reassess under the new lease standard our prior conclusions about lease identification,
lease classification and initial direct costs. The new lease standard also provides practical expedients for an en t it y 's o ng o in g
accounting. We elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. This means, for those leases t h at
qualify, we will not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities, and this includes not recognizing ROU assets or lease liabilities for
existing short-term leases of those assets in transition. We also elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease
components for our office leases.
The cumulative effects of the changes made to our consolidated January 1, 2019 balance sheet for the adoption of the new
lease standard were as follows (in thousands):
Balance at
December 31,
2018
Assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Total Assets

$

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Operating lease liabilities, current
Operating lease liabilities, non-current
Other current liabilities
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Total Assets less Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
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Adjustments
Due to New
Balance at
Lease Standard January 1, 2019

245,201 $
—$
245,201

(18,606) $
68,938 $
50,332

226,595
68,938
295,533

$
$

—
—
25,913
25,913

$
$
$
$

18,597 $
33,853 $
(2,118) $
50,332 $

18,597
33,853
23,795
76,245

$

219,288 $

—$

219,288
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Revenue from Contracts with Customers
On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective transition method. Under this
method, we evaluated all contracts that were not completed at the beginning of 2018 as if those contracts had been accounted for
under the new revenue standard. We did not evaluate individual modificatio ns for those periods prior to the adoption date, but the
aggregate effect of all modifications as of the adoption date and such effects are provided below. Under the modified retrospective
transition approach, periods prior to the adoption date were not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with historical
GAAP. A cumulative catch-up adjustment was recorded to beginning retained earnings to reflect t he imp act o f all exis t in g
arrangements under the new revenue standard.
We do not expect the impact of the adoption of the new revenue standard to be material to our operating results o n an
ongoing basis. A majority of our sales revenue continues to be recognized when products are shipped from our manufactu ring
facilities. Historically, we have had to defer revenue for certain types of licenses arrangements and recognize revenue for s u ch
licenses ratably over the license term. Under the new revenue standard, we are no longer required to establish vendor-specific
objective evidence ("VSOE") to recognize software license revenue separately from the other elements, and we are able to recognize
all software license revenue once the customer obtains control of the license, which will generally occur at the start of eac h license
term.
Under the modified retrospective method of adoption, we evaluated all contracts that were not completed at the beginning
of 2018 as if those contracts had been accounted for under the new revenue standard. We did not evaluate individual modifications
for those periods prior to the adoption date, but the aggregate effect of all modifications as of the adoption date and such effects are
provided below.
The following tables present the amounts by which financial statement line items were affected during 2018 due to the
adoption of the new revenue standard. Our historical net cash flows were not impacted by this accounting change.
(In thousands)

Balance at December
31, 2017

Adjustments Due to
New Revenue
Standard

Balance at January 1,
2018

Balance Sheet
Assets
Accounts receivable, net
Other long-term assets

248,825 $
32,553

2,399
1,065

251,224
33,618

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Deferred revenue - current
Deferred revenue - long-term
Other current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Retained earnings

120,638
33,742
23,782
33,609
313,241 $

(9,067)
(997)
2,100
1,771
9,657

111,571
32,745
25,882
35,380
322,898
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The following tables present the amounts by which financial statement line items were affected in the year ended December 31,
2018 due to the adoption of the new revenue standard. Our historical net cash flows are not impacted by this accounting change.
(In thousands)

For the year ended
December 31, 2018
Increase / (Decrease)

Consolidated Statements of Income*
Products

7,911
7,911
(153)
8,064
1,299
6,765

Total net sales
Operating Expenses
Operating Income
Provision for income taxes
Net income
* Excludes line items that were not materially affected by our adoption of the new revenue standard

(In thousands)

December 31, 2018
Increase / (Decrease)

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets
Accounts receivable, net
Other long-term assets

2,093
1,220

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Deferred revenue - current
Deferred revenue - non-current
Other current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Retained earnings

(13,807)
(4,417)
3,399
1,771
16,367

* Excludes line items that were not materially affected by our adoption of the new revenue standard

Goodwill
In 2017, the FASB issued new guidance that eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test, which p rev io usly
measured an impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill with its carrying amount. Instead, an entity should
recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the
total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The new guidance is effective for an n ual o r an y in t erim g o o dwill
impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual good will
impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We early adopted this guidance for fiscal year 2019 and there was
no impact upon adoption.
Hedging and Derivatives
In 2017, the FASB issued new guidance that expands strategies that qualify for hedge accounting, changes how man y
hedging relationships are presented in the financial statements and simplifies the application of hedge account in g in cert ain
situations. On January 1, 2019, we adopted the new guidance which did not have a material impact on our financial statements. We
continue to assess opportunities enabled by the new standard to expand our risk management strategies.
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Other Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
We also adopted the following accounting pronouncement during 2019, which did not have a material impact on our
financial statements:
In January 2018, the FASB issued new guidance which gives entities the option to reclassify to retained earnings tax effects
resulting from the Tax Act related to items that the FASB refers to as having been stranded in accumulated other comprehensive
income ("OCI"). We adopted the new guidance effective January 1, 2019, and we did not elect the option to reclassify to retained
earnings the tax effects resulting from the TaxAct that are stranded in accumulated OCI. The adoption of this new guidance did not
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In 2016, the FASB issued new guidance that requires credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost basis to
be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, not based on incurred losses. Further, credit losses on available-for-sale debt
securities should be recorded through an allowance for credit losses limited to the amount by which fair value is below amort ized
cost. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019.
This standard impacts our accounting for allowances for doubtful accounts, available-for-sale securities and other assets subject to
credit risk. In preparation for the adoption of this standard, we will update our credit loss models as needed. We have completed our
analysis of the impact of this guidance and the adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on o u r co n s olid ate d
financial statements.
In 2018, the FASB issued new guidance on a customer's accounting for implementation, set-up, and other upfront costs
incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is hosted by the vendor (i.e., a service contract). Under the new guidance, customers
will apply the same criteria for capitalizing implementation costs as they would for an arrangement that has a software license. This
standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim reporting periods within
those fiscal years. The adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In 2019, the FASB issued new guidance to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the
general principles and also simplification of areas such as franchise taxes, step-up in tax basis goodwill, separate entity financial
statements and interim recognition of enactment of tax laws or rate changes. The standard will be effective for our annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim reporting periods within those fiscal years. We are evaluating t he
impact of adopting this new accounting guidance on our consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2 - Revenue
Disaggregation of Revenues
We disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers based on the timing of transfer of goods or services to cust omers
(point-in-time or over time) and geographic region based on the billing location of the customer. The geographic regions that are
tracked are the Americas (United States, Canada and Latin America), EMEIA (Europe, Middle East, India and Africa) and APAC
(Australia, Japan, South Korea, New Zealand, Southeast Asia and China). Total net sales based on the disaggregatio n crit eria
described above are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)
Net sales:

Point-in-Time

Over Time

Total

Americas
$
446,703 $
91,976 $
538,679
EMEIA
324,410
79,014
403,424
APAC
376,631
34,481
411,112
Total net sales (1)
$
1,147,744 $
205,471 $
1,353,215
(1) Net sales contain hedging gains and losses, which do not represent revenues recognized from customers. See Note 5 Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the
impact of our hedging activities on our results of operations
Year Ended December 31,
2018
(In thousands)
Net sales:

Point-in-Time

Over Time

Total

Americas
$
451,047 $
87,341 $
538,388
EMEIA
356,070
76,907
432,977
APAC
355,024
32,743
387,767
Total net sales (1)
$
1,162,141 $
196,991 $
1,359,132
(1) Net sales contain hedging gains and losses, which do not represent revenues recognized from customers. See Note 5 Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the
impact of our hedging activities on our results of operations

Total net sales by the major geographic areas in which we operate, are as follows:
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2018

2019
2017 (1)
Net sales:
Americas
$
538,679 $
538,388 $
504,626
EMEIA
403,424
432,977
408,625
APAC
411,112
387,767
376,135
Total
$
1,353,215 $
1,359,132 $
1,289,386
(1) As discussed in Note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, prior periods have not been adjusted for adoption of ASU 2014-09
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Information about Contract Balances
Amounts collected in advance of services being provided are accounted for as deferred revenue. Nearly all of our deferred
revenue balance is related to extended hardware and software maintenance contracts. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract
type, although payment is typically due within 30 to 90 days of contract inception. In instances where the t imin g o f rev en ue
recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we have determined our contracts generally do not include a significant financing
component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing
our products and services, not to receive financing from our customers, such as invoicing at the beginning of a subscription term
with a portion of the revenue recognized ratably over the contract period, or to provide customers with financing, such as multi-year
on-premises licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront.
Changes in deferred revenue, current and long-term, during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 were as follows:
Amount
(In thousands)
Deferred Revenue at January 1, 2019
Deferral of revenue billed in current period, net of recognition
Recognition of revenue deferred in prior periods
Foreign currency translation impact

$

Balance as of December 31, 2019

$

159,924
116,842
(111,417)
(424)
164,925

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, revenue recognized from performance obligations related to prior periods
(for example, due to changes in transaction price) was not material. Amounts recognized as revenue in excess of amounts billed are
recorded as unbilled receivables. Unbilled receivables which are anticipated to be invoiced in the next twelve months areincluded in
accounts receivable, net on the consolidated balance sheet. Based on the nature of our contracts with customers, we do not typically
recognize unbilled receivables related to revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2019, amounts recognized related to unbilled receivables were not material.
Unsatisfied Performance Obligations
Revenue expected to be recognized in any future period related to remaining performance obligations, excluding revenue
pertaining to contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less, and excluding contracts wh ere r ev enue is
recognized as invoiced, was approximately $60.7 million as of December 31, 2019. Since we typically invoice customers at contract
inception, this amount is included in our current and non-current deferred revenue balances. As of December 31, 2019, weexpect to
recognize approximately 49% of the revenue related to these unsatisfied performance obligations during 2020, 30% during 2021,
and 21% thereafter.
Practical Expedients
As discussed in Note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies and elsewhere in Note 2 - Revenueof
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, we have elected the following practical expedients in accordance with the new revenue
standard:
•
•
•

We generally expense sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period would havebeen one year or less.
These costs are recorded within sales and marketing expenses.
We do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of
one year or less and (ii) contracts for which we recognize revenue at the amount to which we have the right to invoice for
services performed.
We do not consider the time value of money for contracts with original durations of one year or less.
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Note 3 – Short-term investments
The following tables summarize unrealized gains and losses related to our short-term investments designated as availablefor-sale:
(In thousands)

As of December 31, 2019
Adjusted Cost

Corporate bonds
Short-term investments

$
$

237,423 $
237,423 $

(In thousands)
Adjusted Cost
Corporate bonds
U.S. treasuries and agencies
Short-term investments

$
$

Gross
Unrealized Gain

Gross
Unrealized Loss

628 $
628 $

Fair Value

(68) $
(68) $

237,983
237,983

As of December 31, 2018
Gross
Gross
Unrealized Gain
Unrealized Loss

235,045 $
36,932
271,977 $

726 $
2
728 $

Fair Value

(1,298) $
(11)
(1,309) $

234,473
36,923
271,396

The following tables summarize the contractual maturities of our short-term investments designated as available-for-sale:
(In thousands)
Due in less than 1 year
Due in 1 to 5 years
Total available-for-sale debt securities

As of December 31, 2019
$
$

Due in less than 1 year
Corporate bonds
Total available-for-sale debt securities

$
$

Due in 1 to 5 years
Corporate bonds
Total available-for-sale debt securities

Adjusted Cost
102,843 $
134,580
237,423 $

Fair Value

Adjusted Cost

Fair Value

102,843 $
102,843 $
Adjusted Cost

$

103,239
134,744
237,983

134,580
134,580 $

103,239
103,239
Fair Value
134,744
134,744

Equity-Method Investments
The carrying value of our equity method investments was $15 million as of December 31, 2019. Our proportionate
share of the income from equity-method investments was not material for the periods presented.
Note 4 – Fair value measurements
We define fair value to be the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an o rd erly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and
liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair value, we consider the principal or most advantageous market that ma rket
participants may use when pricing the asset or liability.
We follow a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value
measurement is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three values of the
fair value hierarchy are the following:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:


(In thousands)

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices in
Significant
Significant
Active Markets
Other
Unobservable
for Identical
Observable
December 31, 2019 Assets (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)

Description
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents available for sale:
Money Market Funds
$
Corporate notes and bonds
Short-term investments available for sale:
Corporate bonds
Derivatives
Total Assets
$
Liabilities
Derivatives
Total Liabilities

$
$

(In thousands)

87,397 $
—

— $
9,962

—
—

237,983
8,209
343,551 $

—
—
87,397 $

237,983
8,209
256,154 $

—
—
—

(2,872 )
(2,872 ) $

—
— $

(2,872)
(2,872) $

—
—

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices in
Significant
Significant
Active Markets
Other
Unobservable
for Identical
Observable
December 31, 2018 Assets (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)

Description
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents available for sale:
Money Market Funds
$
Corporate notes and bonds
Short-term investments available for sale:
Corporate bonds
U.S. treasuries and agencies
Derivatives
Total Assets
$
Liabilities
Derivatives
Total Liabilities

87,397 $
9,962

$
$

62,094 $
9,979

62,094 $
—

— $
9,979

—
—

234,473
36,923
9,369
352,838 $

—
—
—
62,094 $

234,473
36,923
9,369
290,744 $

—
—
—
—

(1,483 ) $
(1,483 ) $

— $
— $

(1,483) $
(1,483) $

—
—

We value our available-for-sale short-term investments based on pricing from third party pricing vendors, who may use
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs) or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable eith er
directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs) in determining fair value. We classify all of our fixed income available -for-sale securities as
having Level 2 inputs. The valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of our financial instruments having Level 2 inputs
were derived from non-binding market consensus prices that are corroborated by observable market data, quoted market prices for
similar instruments, or pricing models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. We believe all of these sources reflect the credit
risk associated with each of our available-for-sale short-term investments. Short-term investments available-for-sale consists of debt
securities issued by states of the U.S. and political subdivisions of the U.S., corporate debt securities and debt securities issued by
U.S. government organizations and agencies. All short-term investments available-for-sale have contractual maturities of less than
60 months.
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Derivatives include foreign currency forward and option contracts. Our foreign currency forward contracts are valued using
an income approach (Level 2) based on the spot rate less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount. Our foreign currency
option contracts are valued using a market approach based on the quoted market prices which are derived from observable inputs
including current and future spot rates, interest rate spreads as well as quoted market prices of similar instruments. We consider
counterparty credit risk in the valuation of our derivatives. However, counterparty credit risk did not impact the valuation of our
derivatives during the year ended December 31, 2019. There were not any transfers in or out of Level 1 or Level 2 during the year
ended December 31, 2019.
Our short-term investments do not include any foreign sovereign debt. The majority of our short-term investments that are
located outside of the U.S. are denominated in the U.S. dollar with the exception of $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate
bonds that are denominated in Euro.
We did not have any items that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis at December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018. The carrying value of net accounts receivable, accounts payable, and long-t erm d eb t co ntain ed in t h e
Consolidated Balance Sheets approximates fair value.
Note 5 – Derivative instruments and hedging activities
We recognize all of our derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in our statement of financial position at fair
value. The accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been
designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those deriv a tiv e
instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, we designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure
being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.
We have operations in approximately 45 countries. Sales outside of the Americas accounted for approximately 60%, 60%,
and 61% of our net sales during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Our activities expose us to a
variety of market risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These financial risks are monitored and
managed by us as an integral part of our overall risk management program.
We maintain a foreign currency risk management strategy that uses derivative instruments (foreign currency fo rward
contracts) to help protect our earnings and cash flows from fluctuations caused by the volatility in curren cy exch ang e rat es.
Movements in foreign currency exchange rates pose a risk to our operations and competitive position, since exchange rate changes
may affect our profitability and cash flow, and the business or pricing strategies of our non-U.S. based competitors.
The vast majority of our foreign sales are denominated in the customers’ local currency. We purchase foreign currency
forward contracts as hedges of forecasted sales that are denominated in foreign currencies and as hedges of fo reig n currency
denominated receivables. These contracts are entered into to help protect against the risk that the eventual dollar-net-cash inflows
resulting from such sales or firm commitments will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. We also purchase foreign
currency forward contracts as hedges of forecasted expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies. These contracts are entered
into to help protect against the risk that the eventual dollar-net-cash outflows resulting from foreign currency operating and cost of
revenue expenses will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates.
We designate foreign currency forward contracts as cash flow hedges of forecasted revenues or forecasted expenses. In
addition, we hedge our foreign currency denominated balance sheet exposures using foreign currency forward contracts that arenot
designated as hedging instruments. None of our derivative instruments contain a credit-risk-related contingent feature.
Cash flow hedges
To help protect against the reduction in value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates of forecast ed
foreign currency cash flows resulting from international sales over the next one to three years, we have instituted a foreign currency
cash flow hedging program. We hedge portions of our forecasted revenue and forecasted expenses d enomin at ed in fo reig n
currencies with forward contracts. For forward contracts, when the dollar strengthens significantly against the foreign currencies, the
change in the present value of future foreign currency cash flows may be offset by the change in the fair value of t h e fo rward
contracts designated as hedges. We purchase foreign currency forward contracts for up to 100% of our forecasted exposures in
selected currencies (primarily in Euro, Japanese yen, Malaysian ringgit, British pound, Chinese yuan, and Hungarian forint) and
limit the duration of these contracts to 40 months or less.
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For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the gain or loss on th e d eriv ativ e is
reported as a component of accumulated OCI and reclassified into earnings in the same line item (net sales, operating expenses, or
cost of sales) associated with the forecasted transaction and in the same period or periods during which the hedged transact ion
affects earnings. Hedge effectiveness of foreign currency forwards designated as cash flow hedges are measured by comparing the
hedging instrument’s cumulative change in fair value from inception to maturity to the forecasted transaction’s terminal value.
We held forward contracts with the following notional amounts:
(In thousands)
Chinese yuan
Euro
Japanese yen
Hungarian forint
British pound
Malaysian ringgit
Korean won
Total forward contracts notional amount

U.S. Dollar Equivalent
$

$
$

As of December 31, 2019
As of December 31, 2018
32,970 $
45,520
130,122
134,654
53,527
15,141
95,228
35,384
13,988
9,948
32,725
27,778
24,728 $
8,331
383,288 $
276,756

The contracts in the foregoing table had contractual maturities of 36 months or less as o f Decemb er 31, 2019 an d
December 31, 2018.
At December 31, 2019, we expect to reclassify $6.4 million of gains on derivative instruments from accumulated OCI to
net sales during the next twelve months when the hedged international sales occur, $0.8 million of losses on derivativ e instruments
from accumulated OCI to cost of sales when the cost of sales are incurred and $0.6 million of losses on derivative instruments from
accumulated OCI to operating expenses during the next twelve months when the hedged operating expenses occu r. Exp ect ed
amounts are based on derivative valuations at December 31, 2019. Actual results may vary as a result of changes in the
corresponding exchange rates subsequent to this date.
The gains and losses recognized in earnings due to hedge ineffectiveness were not material for fiscal years 2019, 2018,and
2017 and are included as a component of net income.
Other Derivatives
Other derivatives not designated as hedging instruments consist primarily of foreign currency forward contracts that we use
to hedge our foreign denominated net receivable or net payable positions to protect against the change in v alu e caused b y a
fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates. We typically attempt to hedge up to 90% of our outstanding foreign denominated net
receivables or net payables and typically limit the duration of these foreign currency forward contracts to approximately 90 days.
The gain or loss on the derivatives as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedge item attribu table t o t h e h ed ged ris k is
recognized in current earnings under the line item “net foreign exchange gain (loss).” As of December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, we held foreign currency forward contracts with a notional amount of $41 million and $71 million, respectively.
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The following tables present the fair value of derivative instruments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and the effect of
derivative instruments on our Consolidated Statements of Income.
Asset Derivatives
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Location
Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts - ST
forwards
Foreign exchange contracts - LT
forwards
Total derivatives designated as
hedging instruments

Fair Value

Prepaid expenses and other
current assets
$

7,039

Other long-term assets

970

Balance Sheet Location

Fair Value

Prepaid expenses and other
current assets
$

7,594

Other long-term assets

1,380

$

8,009

$

8,974

Prepaid expenses and other
current assets
$

200

Prepaid expenses and other
current assets
$

395

$

200

$

395

$

8,209

$

9,369

Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts - ST
forwards
Total derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments
Total derivatives

Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Location
Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts - ST
forwards
Foreign exchange contracts - LT
forwards
Total derivatives designated as
hedging instruments

Other current liabilities

Fair Value

$

Other long-term liabilities

(2,089 )

Balance Sheet Location

Other current liabilities

Fair Value

$

(351) Other long-term liabilities
$

(2,440 )

$

(432 )

$
$

(662)

(191)
$

(853)

$

(630)

(432 )

$

(630)

(2,872 )

$

(1,483)

Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts - ST
forwards
Total derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments

Other current liabilities

Total derivatives

Other current liabilities

The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on our Consolidated Statements of Income for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively:
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December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in
OCI on
Derivative

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationship
Foreign exchange contracts - forwards

$

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards
Total

Location of Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI into
Income

(1,286)

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards

$

Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified
from
Accumulated
OCI into
Income

Net sales

$

11,709

(707)

Cost of sales

(482)

(636)

Operating expenses

(383)

(2,629)

$

10,844

December 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in
OCI on
Derivative

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationship
Foreign exchange contracts - forwards

$

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards
Total

$

Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified
from
Accumulated
OCI into
Income

Location of Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI into
Income

17,422

Net sales

$

(2,591)

Cost of sales

680

(2,306)

Operating expenses

916

12,525

$

(210)

1,386

(In thousands)
Derivatives not Designated as Hedging
Instruments

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards

Amount of Gain
Amount of Gain
Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized (Loss) Recognized (Loss) Recognized
in Income
in Income
in Income
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) $
(348) $
343

Total

$

(348) $

343

Gains or losses recognized in OCI on our derivatives are reported net of gains or losses reclassified from accumulated OCI
into income.
Note 6 – Inventories
Inventories, net at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 consist of the following:
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(In thousands)

December 31, 2019

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total

$

December 31, 2018
110,078 $
10,613
79,719
200,410 $

$

98,346
9,306
86,494
194,146

Note 7 – Property and equipment
Property and equipment at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consist of the following:
December 31, 2019

(In thousands)
Land
Buildings
Furniture and equipment

$

December 31, 2018

12,366 $
219,473
415,216

32,967
218,289
388,102

647,055
(403,338)

Accumulated depreciation
Total, net

$

639,358
(394,157)

243,717 $

245,201

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, was $38 million, $37 million an d $40
million, respectively.


Note 8 – Intangible assets and Goodwill
Intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:
(In thousands)

December 31, 2019
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Capitalized software
development costs
Acquired technology
Patents
Other
Total

$

$

Accumulated
Amortization

132,789 $
91,900
35,609
44,490
304,788 $

(76,910) $
(87,917)
(23,993)
(31,885)
(220,705) $

December 31, 2018
Net
Carrying
Amount
55,879 $
3,983
11,616
12,605
84,083 $

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

123,842 $
92,236
34,427
46,437
296,942 $

(49,299) $
(84,962)
(21,725)
(30,173)
(186,159) $

Net
Carrying
Amount
74,543
7,274
12,702
16,264
110,783

Software development costs capitalized in 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $10 million, $15 million, and $43 million,
respectively, and related amortization expense was $28 million, $27 million, and $22 million, respectively. Capitalized software
development costs for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 included costs related to stock-based compensation of
$0.5 million, $0.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The related amounts in the table above are net of fully amortized assets.
Amortization of capitalized software development costs is computed on an individual product basis for those products
available for market and is recognized based on the product’s estimated economic life, generally three to six years . A cquired
technology and other intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives, which range from three to eight years. Pat ents are
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, generally 10 to 17 years. Total intangible asset s
amortization expenses were $37 million, $35 million, and $34 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively.

F-32

Table of Contents
Capitalized software development costs, acquired technology, patents and other intangible assets had weighted-average
useful lives of 2.3 years, 1.5 years, 4.9 years, and 5.1 years, respectively, as of December 31, 2019. The estimated future
amortization expense related to intangible assets as of December 31, 2019 was as follows:
Amount
(In thousands)
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

36,029
25,463
11,079
4,324
1,698
5,490

Total

$

84,083

Goodwill
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending carrying amounts of goodwill is as follows:
Amount
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2017
Acquisitions
Foreign currency translation impact
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Foreign currency translation impact
Balance as of December 31, 2019

$

266,783
2,819
(5,072)
264,530
(2,288)
262,242

$
$

The excess purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. We have one operating segment
and one reporting unit. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests if indicators of potential
impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach based on the market capitalization of the reporting unit. Our annual impairment
test was performed as of November 30, 2019. No impairment of goodwill was identified during 2019 and 2018. Goodwill is
deductible for tax purposes in certain jurisdictions.
Note 9 – Leases
We have operating leases for corporate offices, automobiles, and certain equipment. Our leases have remaining terms of 1
year to 94 years, some of which may include options to extend the leases for up to 9 years, and some of which may include options
to terminate the leases within 1 year. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet . We
recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Amounts related to finance lease activities and
income from leasing activities were not material for the periods presented.
The components of operating lease expense were as follows:
Twelve Months
Ended
December 31,
2019

(In thousands)
Operating Lease Cost (a)
(a) includes variable and short-term lease costs

$
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Supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases were as follows:
Twelve Months
Ended
December 31,
2019

(In thousands)
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities
Supplemental non-cash information:
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations
Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:
(In thousands)
Years ending December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total future minimum lease payments
Less imputed interest
Total

$

20,919

$

18,938

Operating Leases
$
16,104
12,752
8,984
7,415
6,844
14,153
66,252
12,171
$
54,081

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term (years)
Operating Leases

5.3

Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating Leases

5.3%

As of December 31, 2019, we have additional operating leases, that have not commenced during the period, which
were not material.
Note 10 – Income taxes
The components of income before income taxes are as follows:
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2019

Domestic
Foreign
Total

$

2018
98,476 $
82,068
180,544 $

$
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2017
56,068 $
120,385
176,453 $

46,308
101,072
147,380
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The provision for income taxes charged to operations is as follows:
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2019

Current tax expense:
U.S. federal
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred tax benefit:
U.S. federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred
Change in valuation allowance
Total provision

$

$
$

$
$

2018

2017

18,212 $
2,705
10,156
31,073 $

15,898 $
2,963
14,273
33,134 $

91,043
348
9,352
100,743

(9,168) $
(1,218)
(3,045)
(13,431) $
751
18,393 $

(10,724) $
1,134
(2,148)
(11,738) $
—
21,396 $

(4,796)
(151)
(827)
(5,774)
—
94,969

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
(In thousands)

December 31,
2019

Capitalized software
Depreciation and amortization
Intangible assets
Right of use asset
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Operating loss carryforwards
Vacation and other accruals
Inventory valuation and warranty provisions
Doubtful accounts and sales provisions
Unrealized exchange loss
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liabilities
Accrued expenses

$

Global intangible low-taxed income
Stock-based compensation
Research and development tax credit carryforward
Capital loss carryforward
Foreign tax credit carryforward
Outside basis difference on asset held for sale
Cumulative translation adjustment on undistributed earnings
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax liability

$
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12,202 $
11,756
13,490
9,833
1,176
3,482
51,939
(87,074)
(4,979)
(2,317)
(860)
(1,052)
(7,708)
(10,426)
(262)
(3,444)
(5,809)
—
—
(674)
(10,762)
(985)
(2,072)
(138,424)
85,516
(969) $

2018
16,756
12,964
13,492
—
1,871
3,449
48,532
(83,013)
(5,391)
(2,576)
(890)
(1,735)
(8,199)
—
(848)
(4,339)
(5,216)
(258)
(250)
(42)
—
(912)
(1,776)
(115,445)
79,624
12,711

Table of Contents
A reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to our effective tax rate follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

U.S. federal statutory rate
Foreign taxes greater (less) than federal statutory rate
Outside basis difference on asset held for sale
Research and development tax credits
Enhanced deduction for certain research and development expenses
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Nondeductible officer compensation
Change in intercompany prepaid tax asset

21%
—
(6)
(3)
(3)
—
1
—

21%
(4)
—
(2)
(4)
2
—
(1)

35%
(12)
—
(3)
(3)
—
—
(2)

Foreign-derived intangible income deduction
Global intangible low-taxed income inclusion ("GILTI")
Amortization of intangible assets
Remeasurement of U.S. deferred tax balance
Transition tax on deferred foreign income
Global intangible low-taxed income deferred
Foreign tax on undistributed foreign earnings
Other
Effective tax rate

(3)
1
—
—
1
—
—
1
10%

(1)
2
—
—
1
(2)
(1)
1
12%

—
—
1
(10)
54
—
3
1
64%

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted on December 22, 2017 (the "Act"). The Act reduced the US federal corporate tax
rate from 35% to 21%, requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were
previously tax deferred, and creates new taxes on certain foreign sourced earnings. In 2018 and 2017, we recorded tax expen s e
related to the enactment-date effects of the Act that included recording the one-time transition tax liability related to undistributed
earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were not previously taxed, adjusting deferred tax assets and liabilities and recognizing
the effects of electing to account for GILTI in deferred taxes. As of December 31, 2017, we recognized a provisional amount o f
$69.9 million, which was included as a component of income tax expense from continuing operations. During 2018, we reduced the
provisional amounts recorded at December 31, 2017 by $4.2 million and included these adjustments as a reduction of income tax
expense from continuing operations.
While we completed our accounting of the TaxAct in the fourth quarter of 2018 based on the regulatory guidance issued at
that time, the Department of Treasury interpretive guidance initiatives are ongoing. The U.S. Treasury Department has issued final
interpretive guidance relating to certain provisions of the TaxAct and proposed additional guidance related to the same prov isions.
We will account for the impact of additional guidance in the period in which any new guidance is released, if appropriate. During
2019, we recorded a $2.6 million net tax expense related to an increase in the 2017 one-time deemed repatriation tax on accumulated
foreign earnings as a result of final tax regulations issued in 2019.
As of December 31, 2019, we had federal tax credit carryforwards of $0.7 million which expire during the years 2021 to
2029. Certain of these carryforwards are subject to limitations following a change in ownership. We do not expect to utilize certain
of these carryforwards and have recorded a valuation allowance of $0.6 million against those credits at December 31, 2019.
As of December 31, 2019, 14 of our subsidiaries had available, for income tax purposes, foreign n et o peratin g lo s s
carryforwards of an aggregate of approximately $981 million, of which $973 million expires during the years 2020 to 2038 and $8
million of which may be carried forward indefinitely. Our tax valuation allowance relates primarily to our ability to realize certain of
these foreign net operating loss carryforwards.
Effective January 1, 2010, a new tax law in Hungary provided for an enhanced deduction for the qualified research and
development expenses of NI Hungary Software and Hardware Manufacturing Kft. (“NI Hungary”). During the three months ended
December 31, 2009, we obtained confirmation of the application of this new tax law for the qualified research and development
expenses of NI Hungary. Based on the application of this new tax law to the qualified research and development expense of NI
Hungary, we do not expect to have sufficient future taxable income in Hungary to realize the benefits of NI Hungary’s deferred tax
assets. Therefore, we had a full valuation allowance against those assets at December 31, 2019.
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Earnings from our operations in Malaysia are free of tax under a tax holiday effective January 1, 2013. This tax holiday
expires in 2037. If we fail to satisfy the conditions of the tax holiday, this tax benefit may be terminated early. The tax h o lid ay
resulted in income tax benefits of $3.4 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respective1y. The
impact of the tax holiday on a per share basis for each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was a benefit of $0.03 per
share.
We have not provided for foreign withholding or distribution taxes on approximately $5.3 million of certain non -U.S.
subsidiaries' undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2019. These earnings would become subject to withholding or distribution
taxes of approximately $679,000, if they were remitted to the parent company as dividends. We intend to permanently reinvest these
undistributed earnings.
We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds
and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefit is as follows:


(In thousands)

December 31, 2019

Balance at beginning of period
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
Reductions for tax positions of prior years
Additions for tax positions of prior years
Reductions as a result of settlement with taxing authorities
Reductions as a result of the closing of open tax periods
Balance at end of period

$

$

December 31, 2018

9,775 $
776
—
390
(725)
(3,564)
6,652 $

10,158
1,486
(1,208)
1,207
—
(1,868)
9,775

All of our unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 would affect our effective income tax rate if recognized. As of
December 31, 2019, it is reasonably possible that we will recognize tax benefits in the amount of $2.8 million in the next twelve
months due to the closing of open tax years. The nature of the uncertainty is related to deductions taken on returns that have not
been examined by the applicable tax authority.
We recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. During the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, we recognized interest expense related to uncertain tax positions of approximately $0.4 million and
$0.6 million, respectively.
The tax years 2013 through 2019 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which we are subject.
The Internal Revenue Service concluded an examination of our U.S. income tax returns for 2010 and 2011 in the third quarter of
2014.
Note 11 – Comprehensive income
Our comprehensive income is comprised of net income, foreign currency translation, unrealized gains and lo sses o n
forward contracts and securities classified as available-for-sale. The accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following:


December 31, 2019

(In thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2018
$
Current-period other comprehensive (loss)
income
Reclassified from accumulated OCI into
income
Income tax benefit (expense)
Balance as of December 31, 2019
$

Accumulated
other
Derivative
comprehensive
instruments
Investments
income (loss)
(22,485) $
(1,308) $
6,862 $
(16,931)

Currency
translation
adjustment

(3,346)
—
—
(25,831) $
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1,141
—
82
(85) $

(13,473)
10,844
613
4,846 $

(15,678)
10,844
695
(21,070)
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December 31, 2018

(In thousands)

Accumulated
other
Derivative
comprehensive
instruments
Investments
income (loss)
(12,717) $
(782) $
(3,010) $
(16,509)

Currency
translation
adjustment

Balance as of December 31, 2017
$
Current-period other comprehensive income
(loss)
Reclassified from accumulated OCI into
income
Income tax (expense) benefit
Balance as of December 31, 2018
$

(9,768)

(378)

—
—
(22,485) $

—
(148)
(1,308) $

11,139
1,386
(2,653)
6,862 $

993
1,386
(2,801)
(16,931)

Note 12 – Authorized shares of common and preferred stock and stock-based compensation plans
Authorized shares of common and preferred stock
Following approval by the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders, on May 14, 2013, the Company’s certificate of
incorporation was amended to increase the authorized shares of common stock by 180,000,000 shares to a total of 360,000,000
shares. As a result of this amendment, the total number of shares which the Company is authorized to issue is 365,000,000 shares,
consisting of (i) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, and (ii) 360,000,000 shares of common stock, par
value $0.01 per share.
Restricted stock unit plans
Our stockholders approved our 2005 Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”) in May 2005. At the time of approval, 4,050,000
shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan, as well as the number of shares which had been reserved but
not issued under our 1994 Incentive Plan, which terminated in May 2005 (The "1994 Plan"), and any shares that returned to the
1994 Plan as a result of termination of options or repurchase of shares issued under such plan. The 2005 Plan provided fo r t h e
granting of incentive awards in the form of restricted stock and RSUs to directors, executive officers and employees of theCompany
and its subsidiaries. Awards vest over a three, five or ten-year period, beginning on the date of grant. Vesting of ten-year awards may
accelerate based on the Company’s previous year’s earnings and growth but ten-year awards cannot accelerate to vest over a period
of less than five years. The 2005 Plan terminated on May 11, 2010, except with respect to outstanding awards previously granted
thereunder. There were 3,362,304 shares of common stock that were reserved but not issued under the 1994 Plan and the 2005 Plan
as of May 11, 2010.
Our stockholders approved our 2010 Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”) on May 11, 2010. At the time of approval, 3,000,000
shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan, as well as the 3,362,304 shares of common stock that were
reserved but not issued under the 1994 Plan and the 2005 Plan as of May 11, 2010, and any shares that are returned to the 1994 Plan
and the 2005 Plan as a result of forfeiture or termination of options or RSUs or repurchase of shares issued under those plans. The
2010 Plan provided for the granting of incentive awards in the form of restricted stock and RSUs to employees, direct ors an d
consultants of the Company and employees and consultants of any parent or subsidiary of the Company. Awards vest over a three,
five or ten-year period, beginning on the date of grant. Vesting of ten-year awards may accelerate based on the Company’s previous
year’s earnings and growth but ten-year awards cannot accelerate to vest over a period of less than five years. Th e 2010 p lan
terminated on May 12, 2015, except with outstanding awards previously granted there under. There were 2,518,416 s h ares o f
common stock that were reserved but not issued under the 2010 Plan as of May 12, 2015.
Our stockholders approved our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”) on May 12, 2015. At the time of approval,
3,000,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan, as well as the 2,518,416 shares of common stock
that were reserved but not issued under the 2010 Plan, and any shares that were returned to the 1994, 2005, and the 2010 Plans as a
result of the forfeiture or termination of options or RSUs or repurchase of shares issued under those plans. The 2015 Plan provides
for the granting of incentive awards in the form of restricted stock and RSUs to employees, directors an d co nsult ant s o f t h e
Company and employees and consultants of any parent or subsidiary of the Company. Awards vest over a three, four, five or tenyear period, beginning on the date of grant. Vesting of ten-year awards may accelerate based on the Company’s previous year’s
earnings and growth but ten-year awards cannot accelerate to vest over a period of less than five years. There were 1,920,771shares
available for grant under the 2015 Plan at December 31, 2019.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not make any changes in accounting principles or methods of estimates
related to the 2010 and 2015 Plans. Transactions under our 2010 Plan and 2015 Plan are summarized as follows:
RSUs
Number of RSUs
Outstanding at December 31, 2016
Granted
Earned
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Earned
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Earned
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2019

2,806,201
1,205,920
(666,786)
(192,371)
3,152,964
1,100,067
(823,816)
(250,679)
3,178,536
1,306,387
(958,995)
(236,291)
3,289,637

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Weighted average grant
price per share
28.76
34.57
28.05
29.73
31.07
48.42
30.78
34.13
36.91
46.76
35.86
38.82
40.99

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs was approximately $151.6 million as of
December 31, 2019, related to 3,289,637 shares with a per share weighted average fair value of $40.99. We anticipate this expense
to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.89 years.
Employee stock purchase plan
Our employee stock purchase plan permits substantially all domestic employees and employees of designated subsidiaries
to acquire our common stock at a purchase price of 85% of the lower of the market price at the beginning or the end of the purchase
period. The plan has quarterly purchase periods generally beginning on February 1, May 1, August 1 and November 1 of each year.
Employees may designate up to 15% of their compensation for the purchase of common stock under this plan. On May 14, 2019,
our stockholders approved an additional 3,000,000 s hares for issuance under our employee stock purchase plan, and at
December 31, 2019, we had 4,085,770 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under this plan. We issued 909,274
shares under this plan in the year ended December 31, 2019. The weighted average purchase price of the shares under this plan was
$36.50 per share. The grant date fair value of the purchase rights was estimated using the Black-Scholes model with the following
assumptions:


2019
Dividend yield
Expected life
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate

2018

0.558%
3 months
34%
2.32%

0.518%
3 months
24%
1.39%

2017
0.650%
3 months
18%
0.48%

Weighted average, grant date fair value of purchase rights granted under the employee stock purchase plan are as follows:
Weighted average fair value
per share
1,065,154 $
6.80
872,853 $
8.97
909,274 $
9.40

Number of Shares
2017
2018
2019

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not make any changes in accounting principles or methods of estimates
with respect to the employee stock purchase plan.
Authorized Preferred Stock and Preferred Stock Purchase Rights Plan
We have 5,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock. On January 21, 2004, our Board of Directors designated 750,000
of these shares as Series A Participating Preferred Stock in conjunction with its adoption of a Preferred Stock Rights Agreement
which expired on May 10, 2014. There were no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019.
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Stock repurchases and retirements
Our Board of Directors has authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time, depending
on market conditions and other factors. On January 23, 2019, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program t o
increase the number of shares that may be repurchased to 4,000,000 shares. On October 23, 2019, our Board of Directors amended
our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that may be repurchased by 3,000,000 shares. Under the current
program, during the three months ended December 31, 2019, we repurchased 794,324 shares of our common stock at a weighted
average price per share at $42.98 and during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, we repurchased 4,000,000 shares of our
common stock at a weighted average price per share of $42.83. We did not repurchase any shares during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2018. At December 31, 2019, there were 3,000,000 shares remaining available for repurchase under this program.
This repurchase program does not have an expiration date.
Note 13 – Employee retirement plan
We have a defined contribution retirement plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Substantially all
domestic employees with at least 30 days of continuous service are eligible to participate and may contribute up to 15% of their
compensation to such plan. The Board of Directors has elected to make matching contributio ns eq u al t o 50% o f emp lo y ee
contributions, which could be applied to up to 8% of each participant’s compensation during 2019, 2018 and 2017. Employees are
eligible for matching contributions after one year of continuous service. Company contributions vest immediately. Ou r p o licy
prohibits participants from direct investment in shares of our common stock within the plan. Company contributions charged to
expense were $9.6 million, $9.4 million and $9.5 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.
Note 14 – Segment information
We operate as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate
financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, who is our chief executive officer, in de ciding
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates our financial information and
resources and assesses the performance of these resources on a consolidated basis. Since we operate in one operating segment, all
required financial segment information can be found in the condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto.
We sell our products in three geographic regions which consist of Americas; EMEIA; and APAC. Our sales to these regions
share similar economic characteristics, similar product mix, similar customers, and similar distribution methods. Revenuefrom the
sale of our products, which are similar in nature, and software maintenance is reflected as total net sales in o u r Co n so lid at ed
Statements of Income. (See Note 2 –Revenue of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for total net sales b y t h e majo r
geographic areas in which we operate).
Based on the billing location of the customer, total sales outside the U.S. for years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and
2017 were $850 million, $859 million, and $816 million, respectively. Revenue and long-lived assets attributable to each individual
foreign country outside the U.S. were not material.
Total property and equipment, net, outside the U.S. for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $130
million, $132 million, and $132 million, respectively.
Note 15 - Debt
On May 9, 2013, we entered into the Loan Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank (the “Lender”). The Lo an A greemen t
provided for a $50 million unsecured revolving line of credit with a scheduled maturity date of May 9, 2018 (the “Maturity Date”).
On October 29, 2015, we entered into a FirstAmendment to Loan Agreement (the “Amendment”) with the Lender, which amended
our Loan Agreement to among other things, (i) increase the unsecured revolving line of credit from $50.0 million to $125.0 million,
(ii) extend the Maturity Date of the line of credit from May 9, 2018 to October 29, 2020, and (iii) provide us with an opt io n t o
request increases to the line of credit of up to an additional $25.0 million in the aggregate, subject to consent of the Lender an d
terms and conditions to be mutually agreed between us and the Lender. On April 27, 2018, we entered into a Second Amendment to
Loan Agreement (the "Second Amendment") which amended the Loan Agreement, as amended by theAmendment to, among other
things, (i) reduce the revolving line of credit from $125.0 million to $5.0 million, (ii) reduce the letter of credit sublimit under the
line of credit from $10.0 million to $5.0 million and (iii) require us and our subsidiaries to comply with certain of the affirmative
and negative covenants under the Loan Agreement only if loans are outstanding under the Loan Agreement or if we h av e n o t
reimbursed any drawing under a letter of credit issued under the Loan Agreement within five business days following therequest of
the Lender.
The loans bear interest, at our option, at a base rate determined in accordance with the Loan Agreement, plus a spread of
0% to 0.5%, or a LIBOR rate plus a spread of 1.125% to 2.000%, in each case with such spread determined based on a ratio o f
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consolidated indebtedness to EBITDA, determined in accordance with the Loan Agreement. Principal, togeth er with all accrued and
unpaid interest, is due and payable on the Maturity Date. We are also obligated to pay a quarterly commitment fee, p ay able in
arrears, based on the available commitments at a rate of 0.175% to 0.300%, with such rate determined based on the ratio described
above. The Loan Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants. The affirmative covenants include, among
other things, delivery of financial statements, compliance certificates and notices; payment of t axes an d o th e r o b lig atio ns;
maintenance of existence; maintenance of properties and insurance; and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Th e
negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on indebtedness, liens, mergers, consolidations, acquisitions and sales of
assets, investments, changes in the nature of the business, affiliate transactions and certain restricted payments. The Loan Agreement
also requires us to maintain a ratio of consolidated indebtedness to EBITDA equal to or less than 3.25 to 1.00, an d a rat io o f
consolidated EBITDA to interest expense greater than or equal to 3.00 to 1.00, in each case determined in accordance with the Loan
Agreement. As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with all applicable covenants in the Loan A greement.
The Loan Agreement contains customary events of default including, among other things, payment defaults, breaches of
covenants or representations and warranties, cross-defaults with certain other indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events,
judgment defaults and change in control events, subject to grace periods in certain instances. Upon an event of default, the lender
may declare all or a portion of the outstanding obligations payable by us to be immediately due and payable and exercise ot he r
rights and remedies provided for under the Loan Agreement. Under certain circumstances, a default interest rate will apply on all
obligations during the existence of an event of default under the Loan Agreement at a per annum rate of interest equal to 2.00%
above the otherwise applicable interest rate. Proceeds of loans made under the Loan Agreement may be used for working capital and
other general corporate purposes. We may prepay the loans under the Loan Agreement in whole or in part at any time wit h o u t
premium or penalty. Certain of our existing and future material domestic subsidiaries are required to guaranty our obligations under
the Loan Agreement.
As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit. During the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, we incurred no interest expense. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the weighted -average interest
rate on the line of credit was 3.0% and 3.6%, respectively.
Note 16 – Commitments and Contingencies
We have commitments under non-cancelable operating leases primarily for office facilities throughout the world. Certain
leases require us to pay property taxes, insurance and routine maintenance, and include escalation clauses. Future minimum lease
payments as of December 31, 2019, for each of the next five years are as follows:


Amount
(In thousands)
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

16,104
12,752
8,984
7,415
6,844
14,153
66,252

Rent expense under operating leases was approximately $23 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, $21 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018 and $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, respectively.
As of December 31, 2019, we had non-cancelable purchase commitments with various suppliers of customized inventory
and inventory components totaling approximately $6.5 million over the next twelve months.
As of December 31, 2019, our outstanding guarantees for payment of customs and foreign grants were not material.
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Note 17 – Litigation
We are not currently a party to any material litigation. However, in the ordinary course of our business, we have in thepast,
are currently and will likely become involved in various legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory, tax or government inquiries and
investigations, and could incur uninsured liability in any one or more of them. We also periodically receive notificat ions fro m
various third parties related to alleged infringement of patents or intellectual property rights, commercial disputes or other matters.
No assurances can be given with respect to the extent or outcome of any investigation, litigation or dispute.
Note 18 - Restructuring
Since the first quarter of 2017, we have reduced overall employee headcount by approximately 3% by the end of
December 31, 2019, we have been taking steps to minimize job duplication or evaluate where we should shift and centralize
activities, improve efficiencies, and rebalance our resources on higher return activities. The timing and scope of any future
headcount reductions will vary.
A summary of the charges in the consolidated statement of operations resulting from these restructuring activities is shown
below:

(In thousands)

Years Ended
2019

Cost of sales
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total restructuring and other related costs

$

$

—
3,888
13,300
2,877
20,065

2018
(150)
1,890
10,655
1,702
14,097

2017
1,208
2,990
10,968
1,898
17,064

Total restructuring and other charges incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019 related to this initiative were$20.1
million primarily related to employee severance costs. A summary of balance sheet activity during 2019 related to the restructuring
activity is shown below:
Restructuring
Liability
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Income statement expense
Cash payments
Balance as of December 31, 2019

$

$

3,506
20,065
(14,044 )
9,527

The restructuring liability of $9.5 million at December 31, 2019 relating primarily to severance payments associated with
the restructuring activity, is recorded in the “accrued compensation” line item of the consolidated balance sheet.
Note 19 – Subsequent events
On January 29, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.26 per common share, payable on
March 9, 2020, to stockholders of record on February 18, 2020.
On January 15, 2020, we closed on the sale of our wholly-owned subsidiary AWR Corporation to Cadence Design Systems
Inc. for a total of approximately $160 million in cash. We expect to recognize a gain on the divestment of a pproximat ely $123
million, net of taxes, during the first quarter of 2020.
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